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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of
Sanbase Corporation Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Sanbase Corporation Limited (“Sanbase
Corporation” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”), | hereby present the audited
condensed consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 (the “Year”).

As a series of epidemic prevention measures were lifted
earlier this year, the Hong Kong market is also regaining its
past glamour. It can be seen from recent figures that Hong
Kong’s economy has long since shaken off the slump and is
catching up with the last train of the global economic recovery.
According to statistics from the Hong Kong government, the
GDP in the first quarter of this year rose by 2.7% year-on-
year, ending the four consecutive quarters of decline. Forecasts
from major banks have also been revised upward. Economic
growth is expected to reach 4% or more during the Year.
Recently, a Jones Lang LaSalle report also showed that despite
the substantial increase in the supply of office buildings due
to the completion of many Grade A commercial properties,
the overall office vacancy rate in Hong Kong has remained at
around 12%. This is believed to reflect the trend of businesses
leasing larger and better-quality Grade A office units under
the circumstance of less negative macro factors, which has
resulted in the continued absorption of the new supply and
driven corresponding demand for fit-out services.

With the improvement of the overall market conditions, the
Group is also actively adjusting its business strategy, focusing
on bare shell fit-out projects with larger scale and higher profit
margins. During the Year, the number of bare shell fit-out
projects undertaken by the Group increased from 33 to 40, and
the number of overall projects also increased from 131 to 140,
driving the revenue to increase by approximately 25% year-on-
year to approximately HK$520 million. It is worth mentioning
that, thanks to the efforts made in optimizing the subcontractor
portfolio in the past few years, the Group is still able to provide
customers with high-quality services and improve operational
efficiency in the complex environment of rising demand and
shortage of workforce in the industry, driving the gross profit
margin to rise to 6.5% year-on-year and the gross profit to
increase by approximately 47% year-on-year to approximately
HK$33 million. During the Year, we also successfully turned
losses into profits, as we recorded a profit of approximately
HK$2.9 million, which was also the Group’s first growth since
the start of the global pandemic, or the 2019/20 financial year.
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Qutside the Hong Kong market, we see that the mainland
market is more affected by the epidemic, and the industry
competition is more intense than in Hong Kong. Therefore,
the Group has made appropriate adjustments to the operating
policy and structure of its subsidiaries, so as to improve
profitability and enhance competitiveness. For example, in
the past year, the Mainland team actively optimized the client
portfolio, strengthened cooperation with property management
companies and property owners with more stable cash flow,
and focused on projects with higher gross profit margins,
prioritising project quality and profitability. Therefore, although
the revenue of the Mainland segment decreased by nearly
40% year-on-year, both gross profit and net profit reversed the
previous losses and made positive contributions to the Group’s
performance again.

Looking forward to the coming year, the Group is still optimistic
about the Grade A commercial property fit-out industry in Hong
Kong. After experiencing multiple tests including the COVID-19
epidemic, telecommuting and shared workspace, the Grade A
commercial property leasing market is still full of resilience, and
the opportunities enjoyed by the fit-out industry are self-evident.
As the positive effect of “full resumption of cross-border travel”
continues, coupled with the completion of new commercial
properties in the two major commercial districts of Kowloon
Bay and Kwun Tong, as well as Kai Tak, it is also expected to
drive the demand for fit-out services for Grade A commercial
properties. In the medium to long term, the development of the
northern metropolitan area, the construction of artificial islands
in the central waters, the repatriation of Chinese Concept
Stocks, and even the government’s plan to attract at least 200
family offices to Hong Kong will all drive demand for Grade A
commercial properties. After the strong headwinds in the past
few years, Sanbase Corporation Limited has been thoroughly
tempered and will be ready to seize the opportunities in the
future.

Lastly, | would like to express my gratitude to our Board
members, staff and shareholders for their unwavering
commitment to Sanbase Corporation Limited all the time,
especially in recent years. We always believe that going through
the trough will provide an unprecedented rebound to reach
further, and we look forward to continuing to work with you to
bring the Group’s development to a new height.

Chairman of the Board
WONG Sai Chuen

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

i

Revenue
Gross profit

Gross profit margin

Profit/(loss) before income tax

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss)
per share
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The Group is an interior fit-out solutions provider focusing on
providing services to clients whose offices are predominately
situated in Grade A offices in Hong Kong and the PRC. Our role
in these fit-out projects entails the overall project management,
coordination and implementation of fit-out projects by engaging
subcontractors from different trades for their services and
labour, providing expertise such as controlling the quality
aspects of the projects and carrying out the corresponding
project management.

Our projects can be broadly categorised into (i) bare shell
fit-out which is undertaken in the interior space of a vacant
premise having basic flooring and plastered walls; (ii) restacking
which involves upgrading and re-planning and providing
modification works to existing interior structures of a premise;
(iii) reinstatement which involves demolishing any additional
moveable structure that the existing tenant installed; (iv) design;
(v) churn works; and (vi) maintenance and others which involve
providing minor repairs and general builder’s maintenance work
to the tenant’s office facilities, pest control and emergency
call services, project management services and mechanical,
electrical and plumbing (“MEP”) consultancy services.

During the year ended 31 March 20283, the Group recorded
an increase in revenue of 25.3% to HKD517.6 million from
HKD413.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in revenue
from the business of bare shell fit-out. The Group’s gross profit
increased to HKD33.4 million for the year ended 31 March
2023 from HKD22.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
representing an increase of 47.1%.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the profit attributable
to owners of the Company was HKD1.0 million while loss
attributable to owners of the Company was HKD5.7 million for
the corresponding period of last year.
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Revenue

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from (i) bare shell
fit-out; (i) restacking; (iii) reinstatement; (iv) design; (v) churn
works; and (vi) maintenance and others. For the year ended 31
March 2023, the revenue of the Group was HKD517.6 million,
representing an increase of 25.3% compared with HKD413.1
million recorded last year. The increase was mainly attributable
to the increase in revenue from the bare shell fit-out.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s
revenue by project types for the year ended 31 March 2023
and 2022:

Project type HEEA
Bare shell fit-out ERFEHEE
Restacking ER
Reinstatement 2R
Design HE

Churn works THTIE
Maintenance and others REREM
Total @t

As shown in table above, our bare shell fit-out contributed to
66.8% and 41.7% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, respectively. Revenue from
bare shell fit-out was HKD346.0 million for the year ended
31 March 2023, representing an increase of 101.0% compared
with HKD172.1 million recorded last year.

From 1 April 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, we

were newly awarded a total of 30 bare shell fit-out projects with
a total project sum of HKD406.2 million.
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Cost of sales and Direct margin

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised of subcontracting
charges and staff costs. Cost of sales for the year ended
31 March 2023 was HKD484.2 million, representing an increase
of 24.0% compared with HKD390.4 million recorded last year.
The increase was in line with the increase in revenue.

Defined as revenue less subcontracting costs, cleaning
expenses, insurance expenses and security expenses, the
direct margin of the Group indicates the overall project
profitability before taking into account other fixed costs. The
following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s direct
margin by project types for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
2022:

Project type HEER
Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE
Restacking B
Reinstatement 2R
Design HE

Churn works EWRTIE
Maintenance and others REREM
Total st

The Group’s overall direct margin was HKD66.9 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023, representing an increase of 32.7%
compared with HKD50.4 million recorded last year. The direct
margin ratio for the year ended 31 March 2023 was 12.9%,
representing an increase of 0.7 percentage points compared
with 12.2% for the corresponding period of last year. Such
increase in the direct margin was primarily due to the increase
of direct margin from bare shell fit-out.
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Other income

Other income for the current year was HKD1.7 million,
representing an increase of 1,600.0% compared with HKDO.1
million for the corresponding period of last year. The amount
represents government grant in respect of the Employment
Support Scheme and the Distance Business Programme (2022:
in respect of the Distance Business Programme) received
from the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses was HKD28.7 million for the current
year, representing a decrease of 5.3% compared with
HKD30.3 million recorded last year. Such decrease was
primarily attributable to (i) a decrease of HKD1.0 million in
administrative staff costs and (i) a decrease of HKDO.6 million
in entertainment.

Finance costs

Finance costs which comprised mainly the interest on the lease
liabilities decreased to HKDO.1 million for the year ended 31
March 2023 from HKDO.2 million for the last year.

Income tax expense
Income tax expense for the current year was HKD1.5 million
while income tax expense for last year was HKDO.4 million.

Profit/(loss) for the year
Profit was HKD2.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2023
while a loss of HKD7.2 million was recorded for last year.

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of
the Company

Profit attributable to owners of the Company was HKD1.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2023, while loss attributable
to owners of the Company was HKD5.7 million for last year.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENW R DA

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,

GEARING RATIO AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group financed its
operation by its internal resources. As at 31 March 2023, the
Group had net current assets of HKD116.7 million (31 March
2022: HKD109.9 million), including cash and cash equivalents
balances of HKD109.7 million (31 March 2022: HKD119.8
million) mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and
Renminbi (‘RMB”).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was 1.6 times as at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022:
1.8 times). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March
2023 was 1.4% (31 March 2022: 2.5%). The gearing ratio
is calculated as total debt divided by total equity as at the
respective period end. Total debt is included lease liabilities.

There has been no change in capital structure of the Company
as at 31 March 2023. The equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HKD137.6 million as at 31 March 2023
(81 March 2022: HKD136.9 million).

As the revenue and costs of the Group are mainly denominated
in HKD and RMB, the Board considers that the Group has no
significant foreign exchange exposures.

The Group did not make any foreign exchange related hedges
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had not pledged
any assets to secure bank facilities or finance lease obligations.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 20283, the Group did not have any material
capital commitment in relation to the acquisitions (31 March
2022: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED

COMPANIES
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not have
any significant investment, material acquisition or disposal.
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As at 31 March 20283, the Group provided guarantees of surety
bonds of HKD14.8 million (31 March 2022: HKD4.0 million) in
respect of 5 (31 March 2022: 3) construction contract(s) in its
ordinary course of business. The surety bonds are expected
to be released in accordance with the terms of the respective
construction contracts.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 75 (31
March 2022: 83) employees. To ensure that the Group is
able to attract and retain staff capable of attaining the best
performance levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on
a regular basis. In addition, discretionary bonus is offered to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s results and
individual performance. The total staff cost for the year ended
31 March 2023 amounted to approximately HKD49.1 million (31
March 2022: HKD44.9 million).

As the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic continues to
recede and the Hong Kong government relaxes its quarantine
measures, social and economic activities will formally return
to a norm in 2023, which creating huge opportunities for the
demand of fit-out for Grade A commercial buildings. According
to a recent Jones Lang LaSalle industry research report, despite
the increase in the supply of Grade A commercial buildings
during the year, the overall office vacancy rate remained stable
at 12%, reflecting a steady demand for commercial buildings
and the desire and ability of companies to absorb them. At
the same time, while Grade A office rents in Hong Kong’s core
business districts have fallen, companies of all types are looking
for new office space to upgrade or expand, which is believed to
provide some support to the local fit-out market.

In terms of the medium to long term, although the Group’s
income has not yet returned to pre-pandemic levels, the Hong
Kong government has made it clear that it will accelerate the
development of the northern metropolitan area, Tseung Kwan O
Area 137 and the expansion of the Science Park and Cyberport,
laying a good foundation for the future economic development
of Hong Kong and the demand for office and decoration space.
The government also has plans to attract more family offices
to Hong Kong, which will further stimulate the corresponding
demand. With the Group’s brand reputation and industry
experience accumulated over the years, we believe that with
all the positive macro factors, the Group will have more room
for growth and will be able to reward our shareholders and
stakeholders with better financial performance.
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Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong”), aged 48, is the
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director
of the Company since 4 January 2018. Mr. Wong was also
appointed as the chairman of the nomination committee on
8 January 2020. Mr. Wong founded the Group in 2009 and
was appointed as a Director on 24 March 2017. Mr. Wong is
responsible for the strategic planning, business development,
daily operations and major decision making of the Group.
Mr. Wong is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Wong has over 13 years of experience in the interior fit-
out industry. He is also an honorary director of the 56th term
board of directors of the Yan Chai Hospital. Mr. Wong is the
spouse of Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, an executive Director of
the Company.

Ms. HUI Man Yee, Maggie (“Ms. Hui”), aged 46, is an
executive Director of the Company since 4 January 2018.
Ms. Hui joined the Group in April 2015 and was appointed
as a Director on 6 July 2017. Ms. Hui is responsible for daily
operations, business development, human resources and
administrative management of the Group. Ms. Hui is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Hui has over 10 years of
experience in the hotel industry. Ms. Hui graduated from
Sheffield Hallam University in the United Kingdom with a
bachelor’s degree of science in hotel and tourism management
in June 1998. Ms. Hui then obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from University of Birmingham in the
United Kingdom in December 2011. Ms. Hui is the spouse
of Mr. Wong, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an
executive Director of the Company.
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Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo (“Dr. Sung”), aged 62, is an
executive director and a compliance officer of the Company
since 11 March 2020. Dr. Sung was also served as a company
secretary of the Company from June 2020 to February 2022
and designated as joint company secretary of the Company
from February 2022 to January 2023. Dr. Sung was re-
designated as a company secretary of the Company with
effect from 20 January 2023. Dr. Sung is responsible for
daily operations, business development, public relations and
company secretarial matters of the Group. Dr. Sung is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Dr. Sung served as an executive
director, chief executive officer, joint company secretary and
authorised representative of GSN Corporations Limited (formerly
known as New Western Group Limited), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8242), from March
2014 to May 2019 and was responsible for accounting and
finance management, and business development as well
as company secretarial matters. From September 2004 to
February 2014, Dr. Sung served as the managing director and
a responsible officer of Tensant Securities Limited (formerly
known as King’s HT Securities Limited), a licensed corporation
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Dr. Sung has over 17 years of experience
in the financial and securities industry. Before entering the
financial and securities industry, Dr. Sung has worked for
several solicitors’ firms in Hong Kong for about 17 years.

Dr. Sung obtained a bachelor’s degree in Commerce in
Management and Marketing from Curtin University of
Technology in Australia in February 2002 and also obtained
a master’s degree in Accountancy from Lingnan University in
November 2012. Dr. Sung was awarded the distinction of an
honorary doctor in Business Administration from American
Purlinton University in January 2013. Dr. Sung is a fellow
member of The Association of International Accountants,
a fellow member of The Institute of Public Accountants
of Australia, a fellow member of The Institute of Financial
Accountants of the United Kingdom, an international affiliate of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
a fellow member of The Institute of the Certified Management
Accountants of Australia.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 55, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit
committee, and a member of the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company since 21 January
2020, and was re-designated as the chairman of the
remuneration committee on 28 January 2022. Mr. Cheung has
over 20 years of experience in financial management, treasury,
and company secretarial matters.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Prosper Construction Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6816), since August 2017. From April 2015 to June
2020, Mr. Cheung served as an independent non-executive
director of GSN Corporations Limited (formerly known as New
Western Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8242) and he was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1041), from August 2020 to October 2020.

Mr. Cheung holds a master’s degree in commerce from The
University of New South Wales, Australia and a bachelor’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Imperial College,
London, the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheung is a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen (“Mr. Chan”), aged 51, is
an independent non-executive Director, a member of each
of the audit committee, the nomination committee, and the
remuneration committee of the Company since 9 August 2021.

Mr. Chan has over 25 years of experience in the apparel
manufacturing and trading business in Hong Kong since 1994,
and he has participated in business connected to fine timepiece
business since 2007. Since 2018, Mr. Chan has served as a
senior advisor of Lion Rock Capital Limited, an Asian private
equity investment firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan currently also
serves as (i) the voting member of the Hong Kong Jockey
Club; (ii) the chairman of the 8th term board of directors of
the Education Development Foundation Association; (iii) the
manager of Yan Chai Hospital Chan lu Seng Primary School;
and (iv) the director of Hong Kong Network for the Promotion of
Inclusive Society Limited.

Mr. Chan holds a master’s degree in Business Administration
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a bachelor’s
degree in Social Sciences and Communication from the
University of Southern California, the United States of America.

Mr. Law Chun Yat (“Mr. Law”), aged 35, is an independent
non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit
committee, the nomination committee, and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 25 February 2022. Mr. Law
has over 8 years of experience in accounting, auditing,
and taxation matters. Mr. Law holds a bachelor’s degree of
Commerce (Honours) in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Baptist University. Mr. Law is a member and Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BUFHITES (&)

REZEE ([BREE]D) 515 B2021F8H9HE X
FARARARIBIUNTES ERLZESNE BEZE
(BRFMEZEENE -

= &
=
=2E

BREEB1994F RN EBREEERE ZEBEA R
25F 488 (R BE2007F N2 2 B AR ET -
RELB201BFREERBERAEARRAA (—KLR
ERMEMNLEREIRE QTR NERER - REER
ERBEFONEEEFTGRESE ((REHFED
EEN\EBEERER: (NCHEBRRBENERE:
RiVERGRARBEES-

RECHEBEEABRIASR IR EESHELBMULER
MIMAEHENEREEBB L BN -

BRARKE ([BEE]) 355 520226027250 8
HEARARBBLERATEST BERZEETRE RSA
ZEENERTNEEEKE -BIER D FiT
MR EEEasFLEB EXEBEELRTTARE
MREHERELT (KB)B -BLEERBEETM
REERWESEAD-



The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the provision of interior fit-out
solutions in Hong Kong and the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in the note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by an
operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The business review and an indication of likely future
developments of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023,
as required by Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622, Laws of Hong Kong (the “Companies Ordinance”), are set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 6 to 7 and pages 9 to 14 respectively of
this annual report. Such discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the business. The Board is aware that
the Group is exposed to various risks and the principal risks
and uncertainties are summarized below:

° The Group’s business and operation may be affected by
the pandemic or public health incident, which may slow
down the progress of projects;

° We depend on our subcontractors to carry out various
trades of work and bear the risks associated with
fluctuations in subcontracting costs, substandard
performance and instability of their operations;

° The Group’s business is project-based. Fee collection and
profit margin depend on the terms of the work contract
and may not be regular;
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° Most of the revenue is derived from contracts awarded
through competitive tendering and the contracts are non-
recurring in nature. The Group’s business depends on its
success on project tenders;

° We determine the tender price based on our estimation of
the time and costs involved, which may not be accurate;
and

° Qur liquidity and financial position may be adversely
affected if we cannot receive progress payments or
retention money in full in time or at all.

The Group is committed to minimizing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve
a balance between the quality and efficiency of our services
and the minimization of greenhouse gas emissions and
environmental degradation. Accordingly, the Group promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees
and has taken a proactive approach to affect internal and
external communications by means of telephone, emails and
conferences or such other communication means which are
efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the Group is able to
minimize physical travelling and printing.

The employees of the Group are one of the most important
assets and stakeholders of the Group, their contribution
and support are valuable to the Group at all times. The
Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits policies
accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Other fringe benefits include but
are not limited to discretionary bonus, are provided to retain
loyal employees with the aim to form a professional staff and
management team that can bring the Group to different levels
of success.
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The success of the Group also depends on the support from
key parties which comprise customers, suppliers, employees
and shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Group has maintained good relationships with the customers
and suppliers and there was no material dispute between the
Group and the customers or the suppliers.

Regarding the employees, the Group focuses on the talents
of our employees as our most valuable asset and provides a
harmonious and professional working environment. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, we have provided competitive
remuneration packages to our employees to recognise their
contribution to the Group.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
the Shareholders. The Group will focus on our core business
for achieving sustainable profit growth and rewarding the
Shareholders with dividend payouts while taking into account
the business development needs and financial health of the
Group.

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act Cap 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the GEM Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFQO”) relating to, among other things, the
information disclosure and corporate governance. For more
information about the measures adopted by the Group for
environmental protection and regulatory compliance during
this financial year, please refer to the environmental, social and
governance report of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 110 to 111 of this annual
report.
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Dividend Policy

The Company is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable
and sustainable dividend policy. The Board would strive to
strike a balance between meeting Shareholder’'s expectations
and managing funds prudently. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy which comprehensively consider the macro-
economic, the competition pattern of the industry and its
own development strategy. Final dividends declared by the
Company shall be subject to Shareholder’s approval. The Board
will review the dividend policy from time to time and it may be
revised as appropriate. There is no assurance that the Company
will be able to declare or distribute any dividend in the amount
set out in any plan by the Board.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

In order to ascertain the entitlement of Shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM, the transfer books and register
of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
15 August 2023 to Friday, 18 August 20283 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of Shares will be affected. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No. 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
14 August 2028.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 114 and in note 29(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2023, the distributable reserves of the Company

amounted to HKD69.4 million (2022: HKD73.4 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to less than HKDO.1 million (2022: HKDO.1
million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company is set out in note 22 and 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements during the year in the share options is
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and
“Share option scheme” section contained in this Directors’
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”) and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Cayman lIslands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 196 of
this annual report.
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The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Kin Kei (Chief Operating Officer)
(retired on 2 September 2022)
Hui Man Yee, Maggie
Sung Tak Wing, Leo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Chan Charles Cham Chuen

Law Chun Yat

In accordance with Articles 109 and 113 of the Articles
and pursuant to Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules,
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen, Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, Dr. Sung Tak
Wing, Leo and Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen (collectively, the
“Retiring Directors”) shall retire from office by rotation at the
AGM. The board of Directors has been informed by Dr. Sung
Tak Wing, Leo and Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen that they
will retire as executive Director and independent non-executive
Director respectively after the conclusion of the AGM and will
not offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. Accordingly,
Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo and Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen will
cease to be Directors upon conclusion of the AGM. Mr. Wong
Sai Chuen and Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie being eligible, have
agreed to offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo and Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen
have confirmed that they have no disagreement with the
Board and there are no matters that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders in relation to their decisions of not
offering themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Following the retirement of Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen,
the Company will not be able to comply with (i) Rule 5.05(1)
of the GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that every board
of directors of a listed issuer must include at least three
independent non-executive directors; and (i) Rule 5.28 of the
GEM Listing Rules, which stipulates that the audit committee of
a listed issuer must comprise a minimum of three members of
non-executive directors only.
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In order to comply with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company is endeavouring to identify a
suitable candidate to fill up the vacancy as soon as practicable,
within three months from 18 August 2023 as prescribed under
Rules 5.06 and 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules, and will make
further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

Further particulars of the Retiring Directors are set out in the
circular to the shareholders sent together with this annual
report. All other existing Directors shall continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business, to which the Company, its
holding company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party or in which a Director or an entity connected
with the Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at anytime during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Other than the Directors’ service agreements and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group was entered into or in existence as at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 15 to 18 of this
annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 30(a) and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

The Directors’ remunerations are subject to Shareholders’
approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)), which would
have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interest or short positions which they are taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required
to be recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to rules 5.46
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the securities
transactions by the directors were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (Continued)
(A) Long Position in the Ordinary Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company

EERBEETHRAERAR T HEMAE
FEERD HEARORESNERR

PN
KRB )

A) REQAEBRBROREBRONGTE

Number of Percentage
Name of Directors/ Capacity/ issued shares held/ of the issued
chief executive nature of interest interested in share capital
P/ EEERN HE®RT
EZ/BETHABRS B/ EEME ERITROEAE Nl
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 (Note 1) 56.25%
corporation
THFEE XEEEEE (Hfet1)
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie Interest of spouse 112,500,000 (Note 2) 56.25%
FrERLt e B s (Kizt2)
Notes: Bt
1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in 1. FTHFEABEEENRMEETESBRAF (—

consist of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square
International Investment Limited, a company wholly owned
by him, in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be
interested under Part XV of the SFO.

2. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, is the spouse of Mr. Wong
Sai Chuen and she was also deemed to be interested in
112,500,000 Shares, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

RETAERERANRR BREESHFKBERK
BIEEXVES THFAEWRRAEREPREEER)
A 89112,500,0008% #% 15 -

2. MEBHFLBEGOHEXVE 2B IF
ATHGFEENES BEREAERAAR
112,500,0008% % 15 7 ¥ 7 1 =
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (Continued)
(B) Long Position in the Shares of associated
corporations

EERESTRABREQFHEMHE
FEERD HEARORESNERR

N
RE (&)

(B) RHEBEERMHEFR

Number of
Name of Directors/ Name of associated Capacity/ issued shares Percentage of
chief executive corporation nature of interest held/interested in shareholding
i/ REEEN
EE/RETHABRS HELEER S/ ERME ERTRHHE FREOL
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Madison Square Beneficial owner 37,500 100%
International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
FHFEE e FRAF (f#2) ExEEA
Ms. Hui Man Yes, Madison Square Interest of spouse 37,500 100%
Maggie (Note 1) International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
et (fir) HERBRA (H2) fL B &

Notes:

1. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen, is deemed to be interested in Mr. Wong Sai Chuen’s
interest in Madison Square International Investment Limited,
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Under Part XV of the SFO, a holding company of listed
corporation is regarded as an “associated corporation”.
Madison Square International Investment Limited held
56.25% of our issued share capital and thus was our
associated corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.
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FTERRREMATRAQFARSG KAE
FERONEZRAR

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, so far as known to the Directors, the R2023F3A31H BEEMA  BRIEZ A LS KM
particulars of the corporate or persons (other than a Director F3361E7FEME LML A AR TN KB
or the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more MMD5% A FRERZ M AEREBR AL (ARTES
interests and short positions in the shares and the underlying E&ZSTHABBRIN FHBWT

shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Position in the Ordinary Shares and

Underlying Share of the Company

Number of issued

REXDEERROREBERONGTE

Capacity/ shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Shareholders nature of interest interested in shareholding
s/ EEREEN
REREH SO/ EEHE ERITRHAHE ERESL
Madison Square International Beneficial owner 112,500,000 56.25%
Investment Limited (Note 1)
tEBHRAT (Hit1) EmlA A
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 56.25%
corporation
THFRE (HFT1) EEEEER
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie (Note 2) Interest of spouse 112,500,000 56.25%
et (Kiz2) BB HE &
J&J Partner Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 37,500,000 18.75%
(Note 3)
BEBR AT (H73) EmlA A
Mr. Wong Kin Kei (Note 3) Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 18.75%
corporation
EEE KL (H77F3) LB ER
Ms. Ho Sin Ying (Note 4) Interest of spouse 37,500,000 18.75%

s &+ (Hit4)

ALt s

+

:
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Notes:

1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in consist
of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square International
Investment Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be interested under Part XV of
the SFO.

2. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie is the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai Chuen
and she was also deemed to be interested in the 112,500,000
Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

3. Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist of
37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment Group
Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which Mr. Wong Kin
Kei is deemed to be interested under Part XV of the SFO.

4. Ms. Ho Sin Ying is the spouse of Mr. Wong Kin Kei and she was
also deemed to be interested in the 37,500,000 Shares pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of compensating
them through the grant of options for their contribution to the
growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.
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Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme include
directors (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) and employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
other person who is in the absolute discretion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
is 20,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
eligible person under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option
Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a consideration of
HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options may be vested
over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iiij the nominal value of a
Share.

No share options has lapsed, or have been granted, exercised
or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this annual report, hence no outstanding
share option as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the adoption of
the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) with
immediate effect, pursuant to which all eligible persons will be
entitled to participate. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme
is to recognise the contributions by certain eligible persons
and provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continuing operation and development of the Group, and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be granted under
the Share Award Scheme is 2,056,000 Shares, representing
approximately 1.03% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. No Shares have
been granted under the Share Award Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this annual report.

A summary of the terms of the Share Award Scheme has been
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 16 October
2018.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the
year ended 31 March 2023 was the Company, its holding
company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to an arrangement that would enable the Directors or their
close associates to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.

Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the relevant provisions
therein, the Directors, company secretary and other officers
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may
incur in or sustain by the execution of their duties in their
respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in good
faith.
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EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENT

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” above and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, sales attributable to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for 16.6% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales to the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for 42.8% of the Group’s total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, purchases attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 12.0% of the
Group’s total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable
to the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 26.1%
of the Group’s total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
or their respective close associates, or Shareholders owning
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in note 25 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no
transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted a review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the year and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the purchase of Shares by the trustee through on-
market transactions at prevailing market price as stipulated
under the Share Award Scheme (as defined above), neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 37 to 56
of this annual report.

Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo is the executive Director, the
compliance officer and the company secretary of the Company
respectively, his biographical details are set out on page 16 of
this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report which explains
how the Company complies with the environmental, social and
governance reporting guide in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules is set out on pages 57 to 97 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least
25% of the issued shares were held by the public) as required
by Rule 17.38A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year and
as at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of the annual
report.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors and Controlling Shareholders or any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) are engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor are
they aware of any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor
are they aware of any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group during the year.
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On 8 December 2017, Mr. Wong Sai Chuen and Madison
Square International Investment Limited (collectively referred
to as the “Covenantors”), and the Company (for itself and as
trustee for each of its subsidiaries) entered into a deed of non-
competition (the “Non-competition Deed”), pursuant to which
each of the Covenantors has irrevocably, jointly and severally
given certain non-competition undertakings to the Company.
Details of the Non-competition Deed are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Deed of
Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Covenantors confirmed that they have complied with the
Non-competition Deed for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted such
review for the year ended 31 March 2023 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Non-competition
Deed has been fully complied.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Director, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rule. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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The Company has established an audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of
reference which are no less exacting terms than those set out
in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix
15 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code”). Currently, the
Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Charles Cham
Chuen and Mr. Law Chun Yat, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis, who has appropriate professional qualifications
and experience as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2023, which is of the opinion that such
information has been prepared in accordance with all applicable
accounting standards, the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2023 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM. There has been no
change in auditors since the date of the listing of the Company.

The 2023 annual report of the Company containing all
the information required by the GEM Listing Rules will be
dispatched to Shareholders and will also be published on
the website of HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk) as well as the
website of the Company (www.sclhk.com).

On behalf of the Board
Sanbase Corporation Limited
Wong Sai Chuen
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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The Company is committed to adopting a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures throughout the
Group. The Directors firmly believe that sound and reasonable
corporate governance practices are essential for the steady
growth of the Group and for safeguarding the interests of
Shareholders.

The Company has complied throughout the year ended
31 March 2023 with all the code provisions in the CG Code as
set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules, except the
following deviation:

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wong, being
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, has been primarily
responsible for scrutinizing the performance of management in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, monitoring
the Group’s performance reporting, management and business
development, ensuring corporate governance practices and
procedures of the Group and formulating business strategies
and policies of the Group since 2009. As the Board meets
regularly to consider matters relating to business operations of
the Group, the Board is of the view that the above arrangement
will not impair the balance of power and authority of the Board
and the executive management. The effectiveness of corporate
planning and implementation of corporate strategies and
decisions will generally not be undermined.

The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that
they have fully complied with the required standards set out in
the Required Standard of Dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2023.
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Responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business,
strategic decisions and performance. The Board is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should carry
out their fiduciary duties in good faith, and make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company as a whole.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management
and internal control systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the senior management
and the company secretaries of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the senior management. The Board has the full support of
the senior management to discharge its responsibilities.
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Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing Shareholders value. The Board
comprises three executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors currently. The members of the Board
during the year and up to the date of this annual report are as
follows:

Executive Directors
Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Kin Kei (Chief Operating Officer)
(retired on 2 September 2022)
Hui Man Yee, Maggie
Sung Tak Wing, Leo

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Chan Charles Cham Chuen

Law Chun Yat

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board has met the
requirements under Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules having a minimum of three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of
the Group. Each executive Director is responsible for different
businesses and functional divisions of the Group in accordance
with his/her expertise. The independent non-executive Directors
bring different businesses and financial expertise, experiences
and independent judgement to the Board and they constitute
the majority of each of the Board committees of the Company.
Through participation in Board meetings and taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflicts of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the Shareholders.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rule and considers them to be independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, except for Mr. Wong
and Ms. Hui, the Directors have no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) between
any members of the Board. Biographies of the Directors are set
out on pages 15 to 18 of this annual report.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
renewal upon expiry of the existing term. The Company has
entered into a director’s service agreement with each of the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong and Ms. Hui, for a term
of three years.

The Company has issued letters of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis and Mr. Law Chun Yat, with a term of one year
commencing from their respective dates of appointment.

Pursuant to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the
Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his/her appointment, whereas any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company. The Directors should be eligible
for re-election at the relevant annual general meeting of the
Company.
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Board meetings and attendance

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the
executive Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and
each Director is able to request the inclusion of items in the
agenda. The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings
on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are convened when
circumstances require. The Board held 4 meetings during the
financial year ended 31 March 2023 to consider, among other
things, reviewing and approving the quarterly, interim, annual
results and payments of dividends of the Group.

Adequate and appropriate information is circulated to the
Directors in advance of Board meetings or such period
accepted by them. Minutes of all Board and committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are open
for inspection by the Directors. Draft minutes of all Board
and committee meetings are circulated to all Directors and
committee members for comments within the period accepted
by them after each meeting. The Directors attend meetings in
person or via telephone conference, as permitted under the
Articles of Association.

The Company Secretary attends the Board/Board committees
meetings. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board/Board committees
procedures are observed and advising the Board/Board
committees on compliance matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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BOARD OF DlRECTORS (Continued)

Board meetings and attendance (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings,
committee meetings, the annual general meeting held on
2 September 2022 (the “2022 AGM”) for the year is set out
below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE/ 8RAY

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee 2022
meetings meetings meetings meetings AGM
Ezg ENZEE yHzEe R%#Z88 2022
L] g8 EE EE RRBEXE
Total Number of Meetings BERBAY 4 4 1 1 1
Executive Directors HiTEE
Wong Sai Chuen Tt 4/4 N/ATE R N/ANE A 1/1 111
Wong Kin Kei BRE
(retired on 2 September 2022) (Ro022F9 F2ARIF) 2/2 NATER N/AZNE A N/AZRE A 1/1
Hui Man Yee, Maggie feh 474 NATER N/AZNE A N/AZE A 1/1
Sung Tak Wing, Leo RER 4/4 NATEE NATER NATER 1
Independent Non-Executive BUHTES
Directors
Cheung Chi Man Dennis REX 4/4 4/4 11 11 11
Chan Charles Cham Chuen BE2 4/4 4/4 il 11 11
Law Chun Yat Bk 4/4 4/4 1/1 11 11

Note: The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number

of meetings a Director is entitled to attend.
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Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution into the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in CPD to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills by reading materials
and/or attending training courses, seminars or workshops
organised by professional bodies on corporate governance or
updated on laws, rules and regulations relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a Director.

The individual records of each Director who received training for
the year is summarised as follows:

Directors =}

Executive Directors BTES

Wong Sai Chuen FtEfF

Hui Man Yee, Maggie =18

Sung Tak Wing, Leo RS
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis REX

Chan Charles Cham Chuen PeR o 2

Law Chun Yat R1E R
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Corporate governance functions

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board
is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties during the year ended 31 March 2023 as set out below:

° developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

° reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

° reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

o developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

° reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Company has established the Audit Committee,
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and the
Remuneration Committee, for overseeing particular aspects
of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees have been
established with defined written terms of reference which are
available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s
website. All the Board committees should report to the Board
on their decisions or recommendations made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The respective
role, responsibilities and activities of each Board committee are
set out below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
committee currently comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan
Charles Cham Chuen and Mr. Law Chun Yat and chaired by
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, who has appropriate professional
qualifications and experience as required by Rules 5.05 and
5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. None of the members of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditor.
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Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the Audit Committee are (i) reviewing
the quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group
and considering any significant or unusual items raised by
the financial officers of the Group or external auditor before
submission to the Board; (ii) reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor and making
relevant recommendations to the Board; and (iii) reviewing the
Company'’s financial reporting system and the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

By invitation of the Audit Committee, other Directors and senior
management may also attend the meetings. The Company
Secretary prepared full minutes of the Audit Committee
meetings with details of discussions and decisions reached.
Sufficient resources are made available to the committee when
independent legal or professional advice is required. The Audit
Committee members meet with the external auditor twice a
year.

The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2023:

° reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
and the annual results announcement of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2022;

° reviewed the interim unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the interim results announcement of the
Company for the 6 months ended 30 September 2022;

° reviewed the quarterly unaudited consolidated financial
statements and quarterly results announcement of the
Company for the 3 months ended 30 June 2022 and 9
months ended 31 December 2022 respectively;

° reviewed the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the Company’s external auditor;

° reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management policies; and

° reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices,
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and statutes, and
financial reporting matters.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised one executive Director,
Mr. Wong, and three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen
and Mr. Law Chun Yat, and chaired by Mr. Wong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; (ii) identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection criteria

In selecting candidates for the directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to certain criteria
such as:

° the Company’s needs;

° the diversity on the Board;

o the integrity, experience, skills and professional knowledge
of the candidate; and

° the amount of time and effort that the candidate will
devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities.

External recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry
out selection process when necessary.
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Board diversity policy

During the year, the Board adopted a Board diversity policy
setting out the approach to achieving diversity on the Board.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of the
diversity of Board members. It endeavors to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s
business. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The
Board diversity policy will be reviewed by the Board annually.

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diverse
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Company will also take into account factors based
on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. Such policy will be reviewed from time to time to ensure
the appropriateness of determining the optimum composition of
the Board.

The following is a summary of the work of the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2023:

° reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;
° identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendations to the Board on

their appointments;

° assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

° reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the
re-appointment of retiring Directors at the 2022 AGM.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Chan
Charles Cham Chuen and Mr. Law Chun Yat, and chaired by
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure and on the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
pursuant to the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by the Board with reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as
the prevailing market conditions.

The following is a summary of the work of the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2023:

° Reviewed the Group’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of Directors and senior management;

° Reviewed and recommended to the Board the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior

management; and

° Ensured that no director or any of his/her associates are
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2023
and 2022 are set out in note 30(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of
the senior management (other than the Directors) for the year
ended 31 March 2023 by band is set out below:

2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,0012%2,500,000

Share interest of senior management
As at 31 March 2023, none of the senior management had any
interests in the shares of the Company.

Auditor’s remuneration

The external audit provides an objective assessment of the
financial information presented by the management, and is
considered one of the essential elements to ensure effective
corporate governance. During the year, the fee charged by
PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit service was HKD1.4 million.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit
fees, effectiveness of the audit process, independence and
objectivity of PricewaterhouseCoopers and has recommended
to the Board the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuring year at the
forthcoming AGM.
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The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an
integrated and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, which includes the establishment of a
defined management structure with specified limits of authority.
The internal control system is designed to assist in the
achievement of business objectives of the Group, safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring the
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or publication and
ensuring compliance with relevant legislation and regulation.
The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in
operational systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.
The internal control system (embedded in the operations of the
Company and forms part of the Company’s culture) includes:

° effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

° capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the
business arising from factors within the Company and
to the change in the business environment; and include
procedures for reporting immediately to appropriate
management levels regarding any significant control
weakness that is identified together with details of
corrective action being undertaken;

° reliability of financial reporting; and
° compliance with applicable rules, laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:
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Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and
lines of authority.

Authority and Control

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and related matters formulated by the
Board.

Payment Procedures

Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review
and approve payment in respect of the capital and recurring
expenditures.

Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going
concern basis, with reasonable and prudent judgement and
estimates as necessary. In preparing the accounts for the three
months ended 30 June 2022, six months ended 30 September
2022, nine months ended 31 December 2022 and the year
ended 31 March 2023, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

Risk Management

The Board together with senior management responsible
for monitoring and assessing risk annually, boost related
management standards and evaluate investment projects.
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Internal Audit

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
the Group’s size and its structure is small and simple and the
Board is of the opinion that it is more cost effective to appoint
an external independent service provider to carry out internal
audit function for the Group if necessary. However, the Board
will continue to review the need for an internal audit function at
least annually.

Internal Control Review

During the year, the Company has engaged an external service
provider to carry out an annual review of the internal control
system including financial, operational and compliance control,
and risk management functions. The review adopts a risk-based
approach to create and review the effectiveness of the internal
control system and includes the following works:

(i) to carry out a high level review on the internal control
system on new business/members of the Group under the
principles which cover major control aspects; and

(i)  to interview management and perform focused walk
through tests on the internal control system of members
of the Group on a selective basis.

The Company has adopted a set of internal control policies and
procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure proper
maintenance of accounting records and reliability of financial
information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company based
on the available information (normally from the news and
periodicals) about local and market’s dynamic movements and
their understanding of the risk assessment is enhanced through
the on-the-job training and regular meetings to discuss cases
of the potential risk.
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Internal Control Review (Continued)
Identification, assessment and management:

the head of each department, such as the Finance
Department and the Board will be informed regarding the
factors that have an impact on the profit and price based
on the nature of business and their own experience.
During the course of execution, the concerned responsible
person of the Company will handle relevant documents
and report to the Directors.

as for matters as required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company Secretary will present the
issues to the Board for review and discussion, and inform
Directors and relevant personnel that dealing in the shares
of the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

generally, the Company Secretary will check with the
requirements as prescribed in Chapter 19 and Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules before execution of the proposed
transactions (including continuing connected transactions),
to assess whether the proposed transaction will trigger
the disclosures requirements either in announcements,
circulars and annual reports, and the need to obtain
Shareholders’ approval.

During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its review report and made
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee has discussed with the management and reported
the progress of the work plan and related findings to the Board
at the board meeting.
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Internal Control System and Corporate
Governance enhancement

In compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
and for the purpose of reinforcing the Group’s internal control
system, the Company has established a strong internal control
framework, put in place a set of stringent policies and code of
conduct to emphasis values on integrity, fairness, transparency
and accountability so as to stand against corruption and fraud.
During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its internal control report to the
Audit Committee, who is responsible for reviewing the relevant
policy and system so as to achieve in develop effective control
activities and then mitigate the risks.

The Directors have strengthened corporate governance
practices, including the formalisation of the reporting practice
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an ongoing basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and
management has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions are adequate)
and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the year and up to
the date of this annual report.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

The Group has complied with the relevant applicable
requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the
GEM Listing Rules on the disclosure of inside information. The
Group has disclosed inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable and kept strictly confidential before fully
disclosing to the public.

The Company Secretary assists the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on governance matters. As
at 31 March 2023, the Company Secretary of the Company
was Dr. Sung Tak Wing, Leo. Dr. Sung has undertaken not less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update his
skills and knowledge during the year pursuant to Rule 5.15 of
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirement under paragraph K of the CG
Code.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of the Association, it is
stipulated that:

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. The extraordinary general meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(the “Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business, 16/F, Loon Kee Building,
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars and
transfer office in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to
include the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting (Continued)

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

a. Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in the AGM of the Company.

b.  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

c.  Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for directing Shareholders enquires to
the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of Company Secretary, by email:
ir@sanbase.com.hk, fax: (852) 2870 3813, or mail to 16/F, Loon
Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company establishes different communication channels
with Shareholders and investors. Apart from publication of
quarterly, interim and annual reports, press announcement and
release, updated and key information of the Group are available
on the Company’s website at www.sclhk.com. The Company’s
website offers a communication channel between the Company
and its Shareholders and investors. The Company’s registrars
serve the Shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters.

A special resolution has been passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 2 September 2022 to adopt
the second amended and restated memorandum of association
and articles of association in order to comply with the GEM
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has published its memorandum of association and
articles of association on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Report Overview

Sanbase Corporation Limited (“Sanbase” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively known as
the “Group”, “We” or “Our”), is pleased to present its
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report” or the “Report”) to stakeholders. This Report
describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures taken by
the Group from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the “Reporting
Period”, the “Year” or “2023").

Reporting Scope

The Group is principally engaged in interior fitting-out services.
The Report mainly covers the Group’s head office in Hong
Kong and its operations in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The reporting boundary is the same as last year.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 of the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). During the
preparation for this Report, the Group applied the reporting
principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

° Materiality: Through stakeholder engagement and
materiality assessment, material issues were identified
as the focus of preparation of the ESG Report during
the Year. The materiality of the issues has been reviewed
and confirmed by the Board and the ESG Working Group
(the “Working Group”). Please refer to the “Stakeholder
Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment” sections for
further details.

° Quantitative: Additional clarifications have been added
to the quantitative data in this Report to explain any
standards, methodologies and conversion factors used in
calculating emissions and energy consumption.

° Balance: The Group describes the relevant data and
information of the Group in an objective and fair manner
and will not be biased due to any factors.

° Consistency: The reporting scope and preparation are
substantially consistent with the previous year, and
explanations regarding data with changes in the scope of
disclosure and calculation methodologies are provided.
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Forward-looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements based on
the current expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, and
assumptions of the Group about the businesses and the
markets in which it and its subsidiaries operate. The forward-
looking statement is not a guarantee of future performance and
is subject to market risk, uncertainties, and factors beyond the
control of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes and returns
may differ from the assumptions and statements in this Report.

Contact Us

We welcome stakeholders to provide opinions and suggestions.
You are welcome to provide valuable feedback on this ESG
Report or our sustainability performance at:

Address: 16/F, Loon Kee Building,
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong

Email: ir@sanbase.com.hk

Website: www.sclhk.com
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVER
BE HEREARS

BOARD STATEMENT AND ESG

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board Statement

Having a robust ESG governance structure is crucial to
addressing sustainability issues as part of the Group’s corporate
agenda. As part of its efforts to achieve this goal, the Group
has established a top-down governance framework to ensure
that ESG is aligned with its strategic growth objectives for the
integration of ESG into business activities. The chart below
sets forth our governance structure consists of the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and the ESG Working Group.

NANCE REPORT
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ESG Governance
Structure

RS HER
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Board of Directors

EEg

HEE

- Evaluate ESG-related risks and opportunities
MRS - g RERRE N ER RS
- Formulate ESG management approaches, strategies, priorities and goals

HERE - HEREREEA - R

- BHKRER

- Review the disclosures in the ESG Report

FEHIRE - 8 REAIMENHE
- Oversee all ESG issues
EEMARE HERERAEH

ESG Working

B HERE
Senior Management
BREERE

BRI RERRER KR B IR R

BEIRE - H g RERAERRREY

Subsidiaries' Representatives
i) PN
- Flag emerging ESG-related risks and op|

B EEREER - 2R RIES

- Oversee the development of the sustainability strategies and goals
- Review ESG-related policies and practices

- Identify and evaluate the Group's ESG-related issues and risks
BRI RAEAEERIRE - 8 REREERERER

IRRCERIRIT - 1t B AAERA B0 R B R B RS
- Implement sustainability policies, procedure and initiatives

- Collect ESG information and data for ESG disclosures
RIRE g RERERBIRERE ek

Group
EIEAE

portunities

RS
ERENE

B

J
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The Board is responsible for the oversight of ESG-related issues
and periodically reviewing the progress that has been made in
achieving these goals and targets. It is also the responsibility
of the Board to formulates ESG-related policies and strategies,
assess and manage sustainability-related risks to ensure an
effective and efficient sustainability risk management and
internal control system is in place. The Board conducts regular
materiality assessments concerning the views of different
stakeholders, with the help of the ESG Working Group, in order
to better manage the Group’s ESG performance and identify
potential risks.

ESG Working Group

The ESG Working Group, consisting of the Group’s senior
management, as well as core representatives from subsidiaries
of the Company, are involved to facilitate the Board’s oversight
of ESG issues.

A key role of the ESG Working Group at the operational level is
to review compliance with laws and regulations related to ESG
issues. Management reports periodically to the Board about
ESG-related matters so that the Board can evaluate and revise
the strategies as necessary. The management team works
closely with subsidiaries’ representatives in collecting and
analysing ESG data, monitoring ESG performance, preparing
the ESG report, and finally reporting to the Board.

It has been confirmed by the Board that it has reviewed and
approved this ESG Report. This Report has, to the best of its
knowledge, fairly presented the material issues and Group’s
ESG approach.
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Stakeholders and their feedback are important to the Group’s
business and ESG activities. Through multiple communication
channels, we have worked closely with key stakeholders to

T—irf EREZEHRE %Tﬁiilm%fk&faiﬁ ek
EREHEZHEZ - BRAZEERER TRMEEE
BhEEBEYEE D Tﬁv@ﬁ&ﬁmﬁf&ﬁﬂ’ﬂ%u

fully understand, respond to, and resolve their core concerns, B I HABEREENKE BF  HER MK &H
including investors and shareholders, customers, suppliers B BEE B NEERE AFZNEE-RE - HS
and subcontractors, employees, government and regulatory NEAEEEMABEOENHE EALE R HER
bodies, the public, and the media. ESG strategies will ENELEEMNHES H-HHENHEREREEN
incorporate stakeholder expectations as a driving force for :
sustainable corporate development and optimal management.
Stakeholders’ expectations and communication channels are as
follows:
Investors and Shareholders o Annual General Meeting ° Compliant Operation
BREERKRR BREFRBFRE BHEE
o Financial Statements ° Information Disclosure
B 7% ¥R & EEHKE
° Announcements and Circulars ° Financial Performance
NE KB K MR
° Seminars ° Corporate Governance
e hEES
Customers o Company Website ° Quality Services
BP N aE A BE R
o Corporate Reports and ° Personal Safety
Announcements EAAZZ
TERERDE . Business Ethics
e Hotline and Emails [EE3ER
G LB e Privacy Protection
B ALR &
° Seamless Communication
B0
Suppliers/Subcontractors o Supplier Meetings and Interviews ° Contract Performance
HEER, IR EH HEmEE LE#H BHIRI
o Periodic Assessments ° Business Ethics
TE HART M FEERE
° Open Tendering ° Win-win Cooperation
NEETE ERaE
° Regular Meetings ° Information Resources Sharing
EHgHR ERERA=E
° Circulars and Manuals o Long-term Partnership
3 R S F il REIBH AR

o Company Website
YNSIFER
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Employees

EE

Government/Regulators

B GE e

Community and the Media

1w N iR e

Employee Opinion Surveys
REEAASL

Regular Meetings
EHER

Performance Appraisal
BHEZ

Employee Activities

B EEE

Professional Training

BEE

Corporate Reports and
Announcements

1 %i&d: &/\ﬁt
On-site Inspections
it

Field Trips

B ER

Tax Payments

Wi 75 321

Community Involvement

° Health and Safety
RERALE

° Equal Opportunities
FEKRE

° Welfare and Benefits
e

° Career Development
BEER

° Legal Rights and Interests
BIERER

° Taxation Compliance
M E R

° Employment Growth
MEERE

° Regulatory Compliance
EEAMR

° Security Operations
ZEEE

° Business Ethics

CEST

° Community Contributions

HE2E o=y

Community Investment Programs ° Environmental Protection
R A RIRRE

ESG Report ° Transparent Information

RE - HERERARS

As part of its business development strategy and in line with
industry practices, the Group identified 15 ESG issues and
prepared a questionnaire based on those issues. In relation
to each of the ESG issues, significant stakeholders and
management and staff were asked to rate their importance. In
this Report, material issues refer to those issues that may have
a significant impact on the Group’s business operations or have

a direct impact on its stakeholders.
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R #HERERB®RSE

As a result of the survey, the Group collected the ratings and
analysed the results. Ultimately, the results of the final analysis
were presented as a materiality matrix, which was reviewed
by the Board and senior management to ensure that they
were consistent with the Group’s business nature and widely
representative. It will serve as an important reference for the

development of future strategies, targets, and disclosure of
information. As a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues
during the Reporting Period, we present the following matrix:

High

=

z

/.
V5

IMPORTANCE TO STAKEHOLDERS
HisnE

s

Low
®

Low

(8

No. Material Issues
EEMBEFE

The Group’s Materiality Matrix

rEBMEEMERE

IMPACT ON BUSINESS
HEBHE

AEBRETHFDIAENTTHELER KK RED
DMERNEBZUERENEAZR YHEFERS
REREBETEN UBRRSFEASENEBLE
BB XTEAREZHNRRME - EHERDIERKR
B-BEREEREN—EEE2E - HEMHE A&
ENEERE HEREARBREZINWIA TN RE:

1. Customer Experience

EFER

2.  Labour Standards
BIRE

3.  Supply Chain Management
HEEERE

4. Employment Practices

RSB B

5. Anti-corruption
R&EB

10.

Fitting-out Services Quality
KEREmE

Health and Safety
EREZE

Covid-19 Response
J& % Covid-19

Use of Resources

BIRE M

Development and Training
R REH

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Emissions and Waste Management

B R BEERDE R

Energy Conservation

PrND)

BR BE

Community Development

e R

Climate Change
RIREL

Advertising and Promotion
B & KA
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A.

Environmental

As part of fulfilling its environmental responsibilities, the
Group has always integrated environmental protection
into its operational and management processes, improved
environmental management, and practised green
operations to minimise the impact of its development on
the environment. Our environmental management efforts
have been aligned with international standards through
the accreditation of the 1SO14001:2015 Environmental
Management System certificate.

Al.

Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with
environmental-related laws and regulations in
relation to exhaust gas and greenhouse gases
(“GHGSs"), emissions, water and land discharge, and
the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste that would have a significant impact on the
Group. Such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance,
Waste Disposal Ordinance, Waste Disposal (Chemical
Waste) (General) Regulation, Environmental Impact
Assessment Ordinance, the Water Pollution Control
(General) Regulations, Buildings Energy Efficiency
Ordinance, the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Water Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the PRC, and the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes of the PRC.

Air Emissions

As the company vehicle has not been used since
November 2021, the air emissions sourced from
diesel and petrol consumption of vehicles are not
applicable.

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

B

ERBETERBECH B0 AEEBKKR
BREMAHLERETERE JERREREY
BITReEE UBEERIVEERIRRNTE -

BiBISO14001:2015R B E IR RE X R -

AP A

REEETFC BEBKRERS -

A1,

BB

e S N LR S i N SR R Gy - )
FRAEREB(BER®B]) B Kkt
WHBRAREEREREEEEZEMEHN
EHASEELSEATENREEHERE
FERNEREBRITR RFERIER
BREEIRR (ZRISREE G - (B
ZEWEREGRDN) (BEMWERE (LEEY)
(—R)ARHD - CREFZEFEGEH) - OK
BREH (—R) RO - CGREWEIR RS
=B ~ CPEARKMBERREREZEE) - P
FEARKMBENKISRPIAZE) & (REA
RAAMBEE REYISRRRIAE) -

BERBEIL
AR E2021F 11 AR EEE B AR BEEH
R B L MR R AR EE R R
T A e



Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

GHG emissions are the leading contributors
to climate change and global warming. Since
the company vehicles has not been used since

EERE([BERE]) K

BEREHRRERRBRE2LL L 2 REE
HNTERZ RPN BE2021F11 A 48 i E(E
BARBEH AEENEETAZTREER

= /m 2

November 2021, the Group’s major GHG emissions REREBES HeRMBEEER (BE2) -

are derived from indirect emissions from energy from

purchased electricity (Scope 2).

Indicators’ Unit 2022

IR BAL 20224

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO.e 2.9

BEEAEREHENR(HE) A —EiE &

Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO,e 71.89

MEAEREHR (FE2) AE—EIRE=E

Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2) tCO.e 74.79

BEREBERES (FE1FFEE2) ABE_EREE

Total GHG emission intensity? tCO.e/employee 0.90

BERBHENEERTE? ABE_gmEERE

Notes: Bt -

1. GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon 1. BAERBEBHEREEIU-_SEREEEY)
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited I AR 45 B 7 BR 7t FFE R B 75 BT Ittt R A]
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate BEFRIBESSNEN CRERBEZ
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the EE PEGFTMBEELE) BEXIM
World Resources Institute and the World Business Tl (AR RERE g REBRE —
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to Mige — - IRIRBAR A IR ZERIES]) &
prepare an ESG Report — Appendix Il: Reporting FrH P E R EREELEREAF A
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the RABRBENREGRRAATIER (2022F
HKEX, the latest released emission factors of China’s ABEERRE) °
regional power grid basis and the “2022 Sustainability
Report” published by Hong Kong Electric Investments
Limited.

2. As at 31 March 2023, the total number of full-time 2. HEZE2023F3A31H  AEERESEEAND
employees under the Reporting Scope of the Group 2REBBHATSA (B £20229F3A31
was 75 (as at 31 March 2022: 83). This data is also H:83A) ZEBETARTEEMEEEH
used for calculating other intensity data. e

Sewage Discharge DT K BERK

Since the Group’s business activities do not HRASENEBTHEFTERERENR

consume a significant quantity of water, the Group REERAFTEERTEELERET K

does not generate a substantial amount of sewage Bt ZHEBNERARAEE-

during daily operations. Hence, this disclosure does
not apply to the Group.

TE2EERF 2023FE®mE
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Waste Management

In light of the nature of the Group’s business,
no hazardous waste was generated during the
Reporting Period. In the event that hazardous waste
is generated, the Group shall engage qualified
waste collectors to deal with the hazardous waste
in compliance with relevant environmental laws and
regulations. Non-hazardous waste generated by the
Group’s business activities is primarily office’s paper.

Category of Waste Unit
REE Y &I BRI

Total Non-hazardous Waste

BEBEYEE
° Office Paper tonnes
WARMK NI
Total Non-hazardous Waste Intensity tonnes/employee
BEBREYEELE N

The Group’s offices have been designed to provide
appropriate facilities and encourage employees to
separate and recycle waste at source to create a
green workplace environment so that the waste
during its operations will be reduced, reused, and
recycled according to its Environmental Protection
Policy. The Group places environmental messages on
office equipment to enhance employees’ awareness
of environmental issues.

To establish a “paperless” operating environment,
the office has made full use of the online system.
Employees of the Group were encouraged to
minimise waste through the following measures:

° Avoid printing and copying documents as much
as possible;

° Use double-sided printing and photocopying
whenever possible;

° Reuse old envelopes and recycle used paper,
cartons, and folders; and

o Reduce the use of disposable paper products.
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A2.

Use of Resources

For the purpose of managing the use of resources
and reducing non-essential materials, the Group has
established the Environmental Protection Policy and
Sustainability Policy. The Group continually strives to
minimise the impact of its work on the environment,
and it is committed to enhancing and improving the
ways towards the environmental issues through our
daily operations.

Energy Management

During daily operations, the most significant energy
consumption of the Group was attributable to
purchased electricity consumed by offices. The
Group consumed a total of 95.47 MWh during the
Reporting Period, a slight decrease from the previous
year. The breakdown was as follows:

A2,

Category of Energy Consumption Unit
BEROH R R = X1v2
Direct Energy Consumption
HERERER
° Petrol MWh

b JKEBF
Indirect Energy Consumption
R
° Purchased Electricity MWh

HNEE ) K ELBF
Total Energy Consumption MWh
RERHAEAE JKFL B
Total Energy Consumption Intensity MWh/employee
HMERHERE KR 1EE

Since electricity constitutes most of the Group’s
energy consumption, we have formulated rules
for saving electricity. Lighting systems with LEDs
have been installed in all our offices. We have
strengthened the electronic equipment maintenance
to ensure that it remains in optimal condition, and
also encouraged staff to turn off office equipment
when not in use. The room temperature should
be between 24 and 26 degrees in the summer.
The Group has set a target of lowering energy
consumption by 5% in 2030 and expects to achieve
this through continuous review of the above energy-
saving measures.

BRER
RERERERIRDIEBEMF K&
BHE TRERERR M AIFEEREEK -
AEBETHBHIBETIEHRENFER
ERE ABORBERMANE FEL N
BN EHREAENRIES A -

BER E HE

RBEBEELDT AEERKAMEREERL
BN AEFEENIINEE - RREHM
NEE K HEBATHKER REFEAT
o REEIFRMT

2022
20224

9.92

104.83

114.75

1.38
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A3.

Water Management

Since water usage is included in the tenancy fees at
the Group’s offices, it is not feasible for the Group to
provide water consumption data as there is no sub-
meter to record water usage. During the Reporting
Period, we have no difficulty obtaining suitable water
sources due to our office’s geographical location.
Still, the Group strives to reduce unnecessary water
consumption by turning off taps when not in use and
reporting leaking faucets immediately to the estate
management office.

Use of Packaging Materials

In view of the business nature of the Group, there is
no packaging material by us. The packaging material
is not considered a material ESG issue to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

The nature of our business of the Group does not
cause material impacts on the environment and
natural resources. Nevertheless, we have a strong
focus on monitoring the environmental impact of our
fitting-out services. The environmental management
system we have adopted in our construction projects
has been assessed and certified as meeting the
requirements of ISO 14001: 2015.

Indoor Air Quality Control

During the operations of construction projects,
a variety of contaminants and pollutants may be
released that may negatively impact the indoor air
quality of the building. A precautionary measure will
be taken by the Group to construct a barrier around
the location of the odour and isolate it from other
parts of the building to prevent air recirculation from
the work area into occupied areas. With the use of
tarpaulins or other approved means, dusty materials,
including excavated materials, building debris and
construction materials, should be covered properly
with tarpaulins. The dust respirator safety labels are
required to be displayed on the site so that everyone
is aware of wearing masks if needed.
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A4,

Noise Control

The Group is aware that during its operations, there
may be noise generated, and the construction
activities represent the biggest source of the noise.
Any person who at any place between the hours of
7 p.m. and 7 a.m., or at any time on a public holiday,
uses, or causes or permits to be used, any powered
mechanical equipment for the purpose of carrying
out any construction work other than percussive
piling in respect of which a construction noise
permit is not in force commits an offence. During
all constructions, the Group and its subcontracting
partners strictly adhere to the laws defined by the
Environmental Protection Department.

The Group requires our subcontractors to choose
quieter construction equipment and provide their
employees with earmuffs for working on construction
site. The noise level of a building should be
measured, and when the sound pressure level
exceeds 85 decibels (A), it is required to attach
a warning label to noisy machines in the hearing
protection zone and display a safety sign in that
area. When any environmental non-compliance
is observed on construction site, our staff and
Registered Safety Officers will immediately rectify
the situation and implement corrective measures to
mitigate the problem immediately.

Climate Change

In light of climate change and global warming, the
Group is aware of escalating risks and challenges
to the environment, which could adversely affect
the Group’s business operations. According to the
reporting framework developed by the Task Force
on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD”),
climate-related risks are divided into physical
and transition risks. The Group has incorporated
climate change-related risks into its enterprise
risk management process and has identified and
mitigated potential risks.

A4.
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Physical Risks

In the event of extreme weather events, such as
typhoons, heavy rain and a persistent heatwave, we
may experience delays in our construction works and
physical damage to our construction sites, premises
and employees as a result. As a precaution against
extreme weather events, the Group has adopted
appropriate measures. Arrangements have been
made for working during typhoons and rainstorms.
Aside from this, the Group had also invested in
insurance coverage for its employees and properties
to protect the interests of all parties involved and
reduce the risk of financial loss.

Transition Risks

In response to global carbon neutrality, the Group
anticipates a rapid change in the regulatory,
technological and market landscape as a result
of climate change. This change may include the
tightening of national policies and listing rules, as
well as the introduction of environment-related taxes.
In some countries, for instance, taxes have been
enacted to encourage companies to reduce their
GHG emissions and energy consumption. There is
a possibility that stricter environmental laws and
regulations may expose companies to a higher risk
of litigation, potentially increasing compliance costs
and negatively impacting the reputation of the Group.

The Group has taken comprehensive environmental
protection measures, including those aimed at
reducing GHG emissions. Target has been set to
gradually reduce our energy consumption and GHG
emissions in the future.
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B. Social

B1.

Employment

Sanbase values employees as the greatest asset
and regards them as an essential driving force in
business and sustainable development.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with
employment-related laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Law of the PRC, and the Labour Contract Law of the
PRC.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group has stipulated relevant procedures
relating to the Group’s recruitment in the Employee
Handbook, including the recruitment application,
recruitment process, prohibitions and responsibilities.
As part of the annual plan, the Group determines
whether it is necessary to add new positions or to
replace existing ones for the following year. The
Human Resources Department will recruit through
multiple channels, including online recruitment, job
fairs, referrals etc. Shortlisted candidates will be
interviewed by the Human Resources Department as
well as by heads of departments.

A performance management system has
been designated to identify each employee’s
competencies. This system clarifies the basis
for employee promotions, and compensations
so as to protect both employees and the Group.
Additionally, appraisal results are also used by the
Group for setting up tailor-made development plans
for employees as well as setting Group targets for
the year. All employees are required to sign the
performance appraisal form and keep it in their
personnel files. There will be an ongoing review of
all documents, and they will be updated in order to
keep up with any changes in the Group’s needs and
requirements.
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The Group will not tolerate any unjustified dismissal
of employees. For the management of employee
dismissals and handovers, we have established
the Movement Procedures Policy to ensure such
processes are carried out smoothly and have the
minimum impact on overall productivity. A reasonable
dismissal procedure will be followed, and all issues
will be fully communicated before formal dismissal
to avoid any conflicts. In addition, when employees
resign, the Human Resources Department will
conduct an exit interview with the employee to
understand the reason for resignation, the opinions
and improvement suggestions for the Group.

Compensation and Benefits

Based on an evaluation of the employee’s
performance, the Group provides fair and
competitive remuneration compared with market
standards. The remuneration package shall be
adjusted periodically according to the individual work
performance, contribution, and market environment.
The Group has developed comprehensive systems
to retain talents and strengthen employees’ sense
of belonging, including Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes for Hong Kong employees as well as Social
Security Provident Fund Management Systems for
mainland employees.

Employees of the Group are not only provided with a
basic salary, but they are also offered comprehensive
benefits. All qualified employees are entitled to
join the Employees’ Compensation Insurance and
Sanbase Medical Scheme. Employees travelling
outside Hong Kong on business are covered by the
Group’s Business Travel Insurance. All overtime work
is entitled to meals and transportation allowances
for labour that exceeds the legal working hours.
Additionally, employees are provided with external
training sponsorship and a discretionary bonus at the
end of the year.
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

In the Employee Handbook and Employment
Agreement, the Group stipulates the working days
and rest time for employees in accordance with the
provisions of the Labour Law of the PRC and the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.

In addition, the Group has effectively protected its
employees’ legal rights to rest and vacation time.
All qualified employees are entitled to paid annual
leave following the Employment Agreement. The
Group also provides various types of leave for its
employees, including statutory holidays and other
paid holidays such as maternity leave, paternity
leave, birthday leave, compassionate leave and
examination leave.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

Recruiting procedures at the Group are fair,
equitable, and open in accordance with all national
and local laws and regulations. For the prevention
of discrimination in the hiring process, the relevant
policies have been outlined in the Employee
Handbook, regardless of race, family status, religion,
nationality, disability, age, marital status, gender,
pregnancy, sexual orientation, union membership, or
political affiliation.

Should any employee be intimidated, humiliated,
bullied or harassed (including sexual harassment),
they could report to their supervisors or file
complaints directly to the Department Head. Upon
receiving the complaint, the Group will appoint
a panel to investigate the matter and attempt
to resolve it. Anyone engaging in any form of
discrimination, harassment or sexual harassment
will be subject to disciplinary action, including
termination of employment.
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Employee Communication Channels

Group management actively engages with its
employees through a variety of management
mechanisms and communication channels,
including emails, questionnaires, meetings, etc.,
In the Employee Handbook, the Group states that
employees shall report any irregularities to their
supervisors or the Human Resources Department
and that all cases will be investigated and handled
confidentially.

The Group has long supported a work-life balance
culture by organizing a variety of employee activities
from time to time, including birthday parties, physical
training programmes, annual dinners, boat trips, and
Christmas parties for employees to enhance their
overall well-being. For festivals such as Dragon Boat
Festival and Lunar New Year, the Group presents
gifts to its employees as a way of appreciation.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total of 75
full-time employees during the Reporting Period. The

breakdown is shown below:

Breakdown of Employees

fE B RR 48

Total ot

By Gender b g |
Male S
Female pegis

By Age RER

Age 30 or below 30p% sk LA T
Age 31 to 50 315 2505%
Above 50 50B% VA £
By Geographical Location BibEBNE
PRC H

Hong Kong BB
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RBERR AEENBRBETHBES
25% - R R R - FE AR R i B & B

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overall
employee turnover rate was 25%. The breakdown of

B2.

employees according to gender group, age group, SHEIBERIAT:

and geographical location are as follows:

Employee Turnover Rate 2022
B TRER X 20224
Overall B 30%
By Gender & 1% Bl

Male S 27%
Female pegis 34%
By Age BER

Age 30 or below 30B% A T 35%
Age 31 to 50 318 2505% 29%
Above 50 508% A £ 23%
By Geographical Location BiENE

PRC ai 46%
Hong Kong BB 26%
Health and Safety B2. BEHEZE

The Group adheres to the principle of people-
centred management and is committed to ensuring
that its employees are working in a safe, comfortable
environment, reducing potential workplace health
and safety hazards, and implementing safety
management at workspace.

The Group has achieved zero work-related fatalities
for three consecutive years (including the Reporting
Period). During the Reporting Period, the Group
has not lost any working days due to work injury.
The Group was also not aware of any material non-
compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Such laws and regulations include
but are not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law
of the PRC and the Prevention and Treatment of
Occupational Diseases Law of the PRC.
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Occupational Health and Safety

Providing a safe working environment for all
employees is one of the Group’s top priorities. The
Group strictly complies with applicable laws and
regulations on occupational health and safety in
jurisdictions where it operates. A comprehensive
set of internal policies and procedures has been
developed for assessing, monitoring, and minimising
occupational health and safety risks within the
organisation. The Health and Safety Plan details
information regarding different aspects, such as
the responsibilities of individuals working with a
safety organisation, the health and safety training,
the personal protection programme, inspection
of a hazardous condition, incident investigation,
emergency preparedness etc.

Occupational health and safety management
systems have been implemented in our construction
sites and were certified to be in compliance with
the requirements of ISO 45001:2018 standard
(provision of renovation and fitting out works).
Suitable procedures and drills will be implemented
by Sanbase in the event of an emergency. Drills will
be conducted every six months. The foreseeable
emergencies would include but are not limited to
fire, rainstorms, typhoons, landslides, hazardous
substance spillage etc. Additionally, the Group has
prepared self-learning pamphlets and booklets for
employees and its subcontractors and vendors,
describing the work duties, the general instructions,
and the preventive measures, such as Guidelines
on Site Safety Measures for Working in Hot Weather
and Guidelines for Work-Above-Ground Safety. The
Group was commended as a Mental Health Friendly
Organization by the Advisory Committee on Mental
Health during the Reporting Period.
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Construction Site Safety

As most of the Group’s business operations are
conducted on-site, construction site safety is a
primary concern. For this purpose, the Site Safety
Committee has been established. The Project
Manager shall lead it and includes the management
of the Company, the Registered Safety Officer, the
sub-contractors’ supervisor, the site supervisor
and worker representatives. All workers working on
the site are required to obtain a valid Construction
Industry Mandatory Basic Safety Training Certificate
(“MBSTC”) and construction workers’ registered
cards. To ensure a safe working environment at all
project sites, we provide appropriate and adequate
protective equipment to our construction site
workers, such as safety helmets, goggles, safety
shoes, earplugs, and dusk masks.

According to our in-house safety rules, workers
from the site who repeatedly infringe on the safety
requirements will be suspended from work until
the rectification is made. Visitors are provided with
safety helmets and are accompanied by supervisory
staff. Site safety inspections shall be conducted by
the Registered Safety Officer on a regular basis to
identify defects, unsafe conditions and malpractices,
and any breaches of the safety plan. An accident
must be reported in every instance. For serious
accidents reported, construction work shall be
ceased until investigation work has been carried
out. The Group complies with relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to the Factories
and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance (Section 6A
& 6B), Construction Sites (Safety) Regulations, and
Factories and Industrial Undertakings (Dangerous
Substances) Regulations of Hong Kong.

Additionally, the Group identifies, assesses, and
controls the sources of hazards during its activities,
as well as deficiencies in occupational health and
safety that may result in accidents. Registered
Safety Officer will jointly carry out a risk assessment
in respect of the forthcoming normal activities and
record all relevant information in the risk assessment
sheet; risk assessment will be continuously reviewed
every six months, and where circumstances have
changed to such an extent that the re-assessment
will be carried out.
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COVID-19 Response Measures

In light of the spread of COVID-19 during the
Reporting Period, we were committed to ensuring
the health and safety of all workers and strive to
minimise the risk of the virus spreading at work. We
closely followed government directives and provided
relevant information to our employees on an ongoing
basis. Our workplaces and construction sites
took the following preventive measures to prevent
pandemics:

o Flexible working hours and work rotation
arrangements for workplaces;

° Employees were required to measure body
temperature before entering our workplaces or
project sites. Employees with fever and probable
symptoms were prohibited from entering;

° Employees were required to fill in a travel and
health declaration form before entering our
workplaces or project sites. Anyone who failed

to fulfil the criteria would be declined to work;

° Required all employees and workers in project
sites to wear masks during working hours;

° Provided employees with alcohol-based hand
sanitiser and other disinfectant supplies;

° Attached safety pre-cautionary notices at the
workplaces and project sites;

° Conducted routine cleaning at the workplaces
and project sites; and

° Ensured adequate ventilation at the site area.
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B3. Development and Training

As talent is the Group’s core competitiveness, the
Group has always considered the development
of its employees as one of its most important
responsibilities and provided them with more career
development opportunities.

Through diversified trainings, the Group has
developed and improved its internal training
system to meet the different needs of all types of
employees. Apart from induction training, the Group
provides other training sessions covering fire escape
instruction, housekeeping rules, protection against
falling objects, electricity safety and safe use of
hand-held power tools.

Safety training plays a vital role in effective accident
prevention and safety awareness enhancement.
According to the Health and Safety Plan, mandatory
training arrangements for site management level
and front-line supervisors will also be included. The
training topics cover the toolbox’s usage of various
emergency incidents and construction activities
guidelines. The training programme shall be reviewed
quarterly by the Registered Safety Officer to suit
the actual needs of the construction activities and
to introduce a new training programme for the next
quarter. All the safety and environmental induction
trainings have been recorded and considered as one
evaluation criterion of performance appraisal.

The Group formulates the following year’s
training plan at the end of each year according
to the business needs. The Group will also make
appropriate adjustments to the training courses
according to the training needs and targets.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved an RmERBR AEEEEIIER111%:

overall training percentage of 111% * providing 209 RE200E MR FI - BLZIEE TH
hours of training* with an average training hour of B2 79/ NFEIE R MR R IE B
approximately 2.79 hours per employee trained. The AEISZIEERAMT

breakdown of the employees trained by gender and
employment category is as follows:

Composition of Employee Training 2022
XilE 8K 20224
By Gender g =Y k<o)

Male EeRs 39%
Female 2z 61%
By Employment Category RESERE S

Management BEEE 7%
General Staff —EE 93%
The average number of training hours completed per EZHERREBHEVE DT EEES THHF
employee by gender and employment category are HEIRENT

as follows:

Average Number of Training Hours (hours) 2022
TR B (/) 20224
Overall B 1.39
By Gender R R E 5

Male EoRd 1.48
Female gk 0.72
By Employment Category REEERES

Management EIRE 7.50
General Staff —REE 0.55
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B4. Labour Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group strictly adheres to all applicable laws and
regulations, with no child or forced labour allowed
in the workplace. In order to ensure that candidates
have reached the legal working age, the Human
Resources Department will verify their identity
documents during the recruitment process.

In addition, the Employment Agreements and
corresponding job descriptions specify the work
time, place, tasks, and primary responsibilities to
ensure that employees are not required to execute
work that is not within their terms of reference.
If employees need to work overtime, overtime is
consensual and compensated according to relevant
laws and regulations to prevent forced overtime.

The Group also prohibits any punishments, and
behaviours involving verbal abuse, physical
punishment, physical abuse, oppression, sexual
harassment (including inappropriate language,
postures and physical contact), etc., against
employees for any reason. If any employee is
discovered that has violated the Group’s regulations,
the Group will terminate the probationary period
or the Employment Agreement immediately under
Employee Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with child
and forced labour-related laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are not limited
to the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Law of the PRC, and the Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Supplier Management

Supplier management is an indispensable part of
robust operations. The Group looks forward to long-
term cooperation with suppliers for sustainable
and innovative development. It provides detailed
provisions regarding supplier classification,
inspection, management, rights and interests in the
Subcontracting and Procurement Policy and Code of
Ethics. During the Reporting Period, we coordinated
with a total of 352 significant suppliers located in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

The quality of the products and services provided
by the suppliers and subcontractors is critical to
providing superior quality service to the customers.
A standardised procedure has been formulated for
the selection process to maintain a responsible and
reliable supply chain. As part of the supply chain
quality assurance process, multiple dimensions
are assessed for access, including service quality,
response to concerns, qualifications, company
profile etc. The most suitable one would be selected
and recorded in the qualified list. Additionally,
periodic evaluations would be conducted to
ensure that suppliers and subcontractors meet our
requirements. Besides this, a site environmental
inspection is conducted as part of every project to
ensure sustainability. Numerous factors must be
checked by the designated personnel, including
waste management, water conservation, noise
management, energy conservation, chemical
management, etc.

During fitting-out activities, suppliers and
subcontractors are strictly monitored by the
Group. If any breach of contract occurs, we may
hire temporary staff or other approved suppliers,
and subcontractors may be assigned to handle
the project and assume responsibility so that our
services run smoothly.
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Green Procurement

The Group is engaged in sustainable development
in its business model. Local sourcing is preferred
by the Group to reduce the carbon footprint caused
by the procurement process. As the majority of
the suppliers and subcontractors are located
in Hong Kong, it minimises the GHG emissions
arising from materials delivery and travelling
while supporting local economic development
and creating employment opportunities for local
communities. The Group places a high priority on
environmentally friendly products and services during
the procurement process. A preference is given to
suppliers and subcontractors who choose products
with less packaging, thus reducing unnecessary
waste, and opt to use energy-efficient equipment,
including LEDs, to reduce energy consumption.

Apart from environmental concerns, the Group
will monitor whether its suppliers and contractors
comply with applicable health, safety, forced labour,
and child labour laws, regulations, and standards.
As part of the evaluation process, the Group will
visit suppliers’ operating sites to ensure they meet
all aspects of standards. The Group aims to reduce
environmental and social risks in its supply chain
through the above practices.
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B6.

Product Responsibility

Responsible business practices are critical to
a healthy business. The Group believes quality
products and customer service are essential for
sustainable development. To this end, the Group
has formulated a series of relevant policies and
guidelines to improve the quality of its products and
services continuously.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with any laws
and regulations in relation to the quality of products
and services provided that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations
include but are not limited to the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Protection of
Consumer Rights and Interests of the PRC, and the
Advertising Law of the PRC.

Quality Services

Our core value is to provide and maintain high-quality
services that satisfy our clients. For this purpose,
we adhere to policies and procedures established in
accordance with ISO9001:2015 Quality Management
System standards and procedures. To ensure the
overall quality of the fit-out work, a Project Quality
Plan has been implemented in the whole work
process, starting with materials purchase, document
submission, sample submission, construction and
installation, inspection and testing control, mock-
up prior to installation, preparation for handover and
quality record management.
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Certain Control Measures

BB 2 e

Material Purchased

M # R

Document Submission
XHRR

Construction and Installation
BERTE

Inspection and Testing

LSS

Upon the arrival of the materials, the site manager/site
supervisor would conduct the materials inspection.
MEEER THEBRAS THFEHETHERS -

Any materials found sub-standard or defective would be rejected
and replaced with qualified materials.

EATHARERARENM B RRER YA BT RER -

All changes and modifications on any forms of documents,
including letters, drawings and technical literature, shall be
identified, documented, reviewed and approved by the project
manager before the implementation.

HAEMERAOXH 2EEH IREREMXBMOMEZE R
B HETERMNBEEEEAEBRE o ES kit

The installation procedures shall be in accordance with the
approved Method Statement.
CRIEFETAZEN T IEFA -

The site supervisor would be responsible for ensuring the fitting-
out workers follow the approved method statement during the
installation.
ITHFERBERREECIAELRKBREREREZEN AR -

Inspection and testing would be conducted before the handover
of the completed work to the client. All the relevant records shall
be reviewed for compliance with satisfactory results.

BUKFAFE S EREPBRTAE TEZ AT - R BB
BHOREELS UERFERTELMESAMENER -

If there is any non-compliance or failed result, the subject parts
are required to take corrective and preventive actions, and these
items are to be re-inspected.
MEERAFEERATEBOER  BE XA KRR ER
Ep R WHZEREEETEN RS -

Aside from improving the quality of our projects, RiIEeBEHE=Z2N KMIEFTITERKRT
we place great emphasis on ensuring the safety ARBEIMWHZZ2 AEEASEED
of our workers and the project sites. The Labour ESSTEREAIMEZEEE -FEH
Department has certified some Group’s employees EREBEASESENEEETLERE -
as Registered Safety Officers. Safety inspections BREFEERRBBERMITAGTIR T
are conducted on a weekly basis according to A FEEFE - REEES BB
a checklist developed by the Group. Criteria for HEGKREERBRELE -

inspection include valid workers’ permits, site safety
rules, emergency plans, dust control, noise control,
tripping hazards, and electrical equipment safety.
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Customer Service

As part of the Group’s commitment to improving
customer satisfaction, the Group is committed to
enhancing its customer feedback mechanism and
opening up customer feedback channels. Multiple
channels are available to the public for sharing their
opinions and complaints about products and services
with the Group, including official websites, phone
calls, the Group’s hotline, and in-person meetings.

As the project is being executed, we communicate
with customers regularly to ensure that their
requirements are being met. Upon successful project
completion, the customer will receive a maintenance
guide which includes instructions on how to install
appliances and an as-built drawing of the premises.
The Group listens carefully to each feedback
received during and after the service process.
Customers have responded positively to customer
satisfaction surveys during the Reporting Period.

Aadvertising and Labelling

A proper advertising campaign is crucial, as well as
compliance with media advertising requirements.
Online platforms are used by the Group to advertise
its business activities. The Group has developed
relevant policies and procedures to ensure that
advertising information is accurate, complete, and
does not contain false and misleading information,
or false claims, to reduce the risk associated with
advertising. To protect consumers from being
harmed by advertisements, the Group must comply
with laws and regulations pertaining to advertising.
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Privacy Protection

It is of great importance to the Group to protect its
customers’ rights and privacy and safeguard and
protect their data. The Group has implemented high
security and confidentiality standards to safeguard
personal data privacy to ensure that all regulatory
requirements for data privacy are met.

To ensure that computer systems are used
exclusively for business purposes, the Group has
established the General Information Technology
Policy. Unless permitted or required by law, the
Group will not disclose the collected personal data
to any third parties without the personnel’s prior
consent. The Group also requires former employees
to hand over information and documents such
as customer information, projects, contents and
progress of various tasks, and pending tasks to the
responsible department. In addition, the Group will
not disclose personal data to anyone for promotional
purposes. Whenever sensitive information needs to
be exchanged, a Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA) is
mandatory as part of the contract.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Group employees are encouraged to innovate
and comply with applicable laws and regulations
regarding intellectual property protection in the
places where they operate. The Group maintains and
protects intellectual property rights and encourages
its employees to keep up to date with the latest
technological breakthroughs.

According to the General Information Technology
Policy, employees are forbidden from disclosing
confidential information to any third party, including
but not limited to Group strategies, business
interests, know-how, inventions, and intellectual
property, whether during employment or after the
termination of employment.
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B7.

Anti-corruption

Corporate governance is integral to the growth and
development of the Group. Towards the development
of an ethical, open, and transparent corporate
culture, the Group has formulated a Code of Ethics
Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy to govern business
practices and protect stakeholders’ interests. The
Company takes a zero-tolerance approach towards
all forms of bribery and corruption. Moreover, the
Group explicitly specifies that employees must be
honest, loyal to their duties, and not abuse their
official status to obtain improper benefits.

The Group has also established a transparent
Whistle-blowing Policy to detect and deter
misconduct, malpractice, or unethical acts.
Employees who become aware of any actual or
suspected violations of this Policy are required
to report them under the reporting channels and
procedures outlined in the Policy, which provides
an avenue for employees and others dealing with
the Group to express concerns about suspected
impropriety, misconduct, or malpractice. They
could raise their concerns to the Board by e-mail
to whistleblower@sanbase.com.hk or mail to the
Group’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
The Chief Executive Officer or the Audit Committee
will review the concern and complaint, make the
appropriate investigation arrangement and report
the findings to the Board. All reports under this
Policy will be treated in a strictly confidential and fair
manner by the Group. The identify of the employee
or external party making the report and complaint
will not be disclosed without such employee’s or
external party’s consent, unless the Group is legally
obliged to reveal such information. There will be
no unfair dismissal or unjustified discipline of the
whistleblower, and the whistleblower’s other legal
rights will be protected.
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B8.

The Group’s Whistle-blowing Policy is regularly
reviewed by the Audit Committee to encourage
staff and stakeholders to expose corruption and
strengthen the effectiveness of anti-corruption
control. Training and briefings on anti-corruption
are provided to all employees and directors of the
Board in a regular manner by the Group. Group
directors were trained for 3 hours on the latest anti-
corruption regulations during the Reporting Period,
while employees were trained for 1 hour. The training
materials highlight the importance of embedding
integrity in the workplace, provide guidance on
adhering to business ethics, and provide industry-
specific examples to facilitate the understanding of
anti-corruption by employees.

During the Reporting Period, there were no
concluded legal cases regarding any forms of fraud
raised by the Group or its employees. The Group
was not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited to the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC, the Criminal
Law of the PRC, and the Company Law of the PRC
and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC.

Community Investment

The Group understands its responsibilities as a
responsible corporate citizen in keeping a close eye
on the needs of the community where it operates,
and as such, gives back to the community through
many channels, strives to enhance social harmony
and sustainable development while taking on the
role of corporate social responsibility. In another
effort to help cultivate employees’ sense of social
responsibility, the Group has always encouraged
employees to participate in social welfare activities
during their working day and in their spare time to
make a greater contribution to society as a whole.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total
community investment amount was approximately
HKD53,000.
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Public Donation

In order to support the charitable work carried out
by Yan Chai Hospital and positively influence the
community, the Group donated HK$42,000 during
the Reporting Period.

In October 2022, employees were encouraged to
raise funds by participating in Dress Casual Day
2022, organised by The Community Chest. The
Group donated HK$6,000 to the Community Chest
to support the provision of quality social services to
help people in need.

Moreover, the Group has donated HK$5,000 to the
Hong Kong Cancer Fund to support those affected
by cancer.

Global Environmental Movement

It is an annual event organised by the World Wide
Fund for Nature (WWF) that aims to raise public
awareness of environmental protection and reduce
energy consumption. To support this initiative, the
Group switched off the lights in its offices on March
25, 20283, and pledged to encourage employees to
contribute to a sustainable future.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
B HERERRE

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EHE - —RIK
ERBRENIEE

Description

BE
B

E%hmx%ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ%%~ﬁgﬁ

ERHREESIRS

Section/Declaration

Aspect A1: Emissions

EBEA1:5EBRY

General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to Exhaust Gas
and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—RIRE BREANBEEREHEN RAKETHAOEES EERNEEEZEY KX
WEEER:
(a) BUR: &
b) BEFHBTAFEAZENHEBZERAMNER -
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions —

B 5248 MR 1R A1

BEDg W 1E 48 I A0 R BE D BUE

Air Emissions

PE i R X

KPI A1.2

BB EEIRAL2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity

B (BE) R REE (BE2)RE

(@A) =% -

REHRE (AEEE) R

Emissions —
GHG Emissions

PR E R BN

KPI A1.3

7R 5 45 PR 1R A3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity

PMEEEEREMRE (AMEHE

1) REE

Emissions —
Waste Management

B RERYEE

KPI A1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity.

Emissions —
Waste Management

R ERIEIRAL4 FTEXREEENEE (UEAE)REFE- EENER
KPI' A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Emissions
them.
B A RIEIRALS MM VHEREERRBEI S L FRMERIA LR - B
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Emissions —

BASR 5 WIS IZA1.6

handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.

Wl ERIEBENEERZYN L REEEEMNERLAEKR -

Waste Management

B REERYEE
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2 :ERER

General Disclosure

— IR
KPI A2.1

BB AS UIE IR A2.1
KPI A2.2

FASEAE IR IR A2.2
KPI A2.3

BB AR IR 1R A2.3
KPI A2.4

R EMIEIRA2.4

KPI' A2.5

RS IR IR A2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.
ERFERER (RIEER KEREMEME) HECR -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity

RELEODNEEZER IEEERAREREE

Water consumption in total and intensity

BREKERTE-

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

Mg RERMGAELAEHR-

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved

M sKEUE A KR LA B EE - L RBA B KK E R AT
BRR-

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and with reference to per unit produced

B mPAABREMENEE (UBEAE) REEEEMIGE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : BRERARER

General Disclosure

—REE
KPI A3.1

B 5248 IR 1R AS. 1

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.
BERETAHBRERRARERENERLZENHE -
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

BB EDHRARRAE RN EAYERERRERENY
L1TE-
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BERFERA—AKERE
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ERER—HRLRE IR
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Aspect A4 : Climate Change

EHEA4: Rzt

General Disclosure

— AR ER

KPI A4.1

FA B4R IR IR A4 1

Aspect B1: Employment

EBmEB1:1ER
General Disclosure

— PRI ER

KPI B1.1

B AR R R B
KPI B1.2

BB IR IR B1.2

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.
BRAREHEKRAEGEHBITAEEYENEARARBRIERSEE
Y ER o

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.
HABEKERAEEHBETAELATENERRGHEBASZTE  RE
178

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

BRAHIN LR BELRET TERE REY - FEHE 2T

A8 A Ko B 155 38 K AR U A9

(@ HBFE: &

(b) BTFUHBTABEAZENHEBEZZRRANER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and

geographical region

RUREBER FRANMRISNES R -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

BUER - FRAENRMES DWEERKLL K-

:

Climate Change

TIRRAC

Climate Change -
Physical Risks,
Transition Risks

RIRE (B ER - B

2

Employment

Employment

&%

Employment

(G

+

EEERF

2023F EH &



Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EBHEHB2 - #EHEZ2

General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B2.1
B AR B 1R B2.1
KPI B2.2
AR IR 1R B2.2
KPI B2.3

RS M IE 1R B2.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

FAREZ2TIHEREAREREEREBEMEEN:

(a) B &

b) EFHBTAFEAZENHEBZZELRAMNEE -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

EATT AEKIEE-

Lost days due to work injury.

EIGEXIEASE-

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

PR B RRERT 28 A REBERTRERT A

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEBS : & &IEJ

General Disclosure

—RBE
KPI B3.1

A 52 48 IR 1R B34

KPI B3.2

RS 4E MIE1RB3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
FARAEERITIIEBENMB R BEAEE - B FES -
The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
BRUENEEEEMN (NEREERE HPREBE)EASNXIEE
Anthe

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

RUEMNMKEEEMNE D BRESETKIINTIIRE-
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Aspect B4: Labour Standards

EEB4: % ITEE

General Disclosure

—REKE

KPI B4.1

B 52 48 IR 1R B4

KPI B4.1

FA SR 4R IR 1R B4

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

B IEE T K& EI%TH:

(@ HE: K

(o) EFHBITAGEAZENHEBIZZRANNER-

Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid

child and forced labour.

it ie RIS B G M IAR R E T MoaH T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

R EHERRERBRAEGHERE BB AMRIRA TR -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

EEBS : HEHEER

General Disclosure

—REKE

KPI B5.1

8 82 45 4B 12 B5.1
KPI B5.2

BB 4E IR 1R B5.2

KPI B5.3

BA i 4E IR 12 B5.3

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply
chain.

ERHEENREITERRBEE-

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

mimRE DHHEREA -

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

M EREAHERNED MERTEREEMNMHERZE LA
REBEAOBITRERF A

Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
HEABNEEES FEREONIRE Rt gRERAED - A KA
BRITRERT A

:

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour

ETEREJFEFET R
58 i 85 T

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
BIFEIEETR
58 il 55 T

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
BIREHIEETR
8T

Supply Chain
Management
HrEEEe

Supply Chain
Management
HEEERE

Supply Chain
Management —
Supplier Management
HrEREER—MERE
1%

Supply Chain
Management —

Green Procurement

HEREEFERE
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KPI B5.4

B 4E MBS B5.4

Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

M EREHERSEEZARRER KRB ED - LA REH
HITRERR A

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

EEB6 - EmEE
General Disclosure

— R E

KPI B6.1

8 B AR IR 12 B6. 1
KPI B6.2

A 5 45 A E 12 B6.2

KPI B6.3

FA B4 M5 15 B6.3

KPI B6.4

AR M5 12 B6.4
KPI B6.5

Bl 5248 MIE 1R B6.5

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

ERFRHEERMERSHREELZS BEE BERLBEEUR

TR AR -

(a) Eﬁz% P &

(b) THETAGEAZENEBEZZRAMNNEF -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for

safety and health reasons.

EEXCEXERARTEALZEEREAMADNENED

Number of products and service-related complaints received and
how they are dealt with.

EEARERRBRENRFHEEUREBEH S %
Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.

et BR A RSB EREB AR E -
Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

HiEsREBRERERBRKER-
Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

BB EERRE RIALBEER - A RBBERT

MEERTT &
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

EBEB7 : RES
General Disclosure

— MR

KPI B7.1

BA 4 48 WUEIE BT A

KPI B7.2

B A BRI BT7.2
KPI B7.3

B4 A B IEBT.3

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

EADILEE R BFEEBREN:

(@ B X

(b)) BTHETABEAZENHBERZNROIINER -

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices

brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting

Period and the outcomes of the cases.

RBEHARNEETAXEEERBIEELENE

E &DFT’A-/\I\EI

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing

procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

RS Em R EBRET A REARITRERG L.

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and

staff.

WA RMEENREERHORESTHEI -
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Aspect B8: Community Investment

EEB8 - #HEXRE
General Disclosure

—RIEE

KPI B8.1

A B2 48 IR 1R B8

KPI B8.2

R4 B 1RB8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
ﬁFﬂLMiE%EEEPKTﬁ“* EHEFENMBREEKIDHGE
AT 8 ) & B IR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIERER (0HE RRFE -LIFTR BF Xt -85)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIBBEMBAER (NS BERER) -

Anti-corruption

R&ES

Anti-corruption

k&S

Anti-corruption

RES
Anti-corruption

R&ES

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment
— Public Donation,
Global Environmental
Movement
MHEEEDREE 2
IKIRIZITED

Community Investment
— Public Donation,
Global Environmental
Movement
HEEEL@REBE 2
HIRBITE
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To the Shareholders of Sanbase Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Sanbase Corporation
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 110 to 195, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2023;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
which include significant accounting polices and other
explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

° Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

° Recognition of contract revenue

° Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade and
retention receivables
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Valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

BARBEFEBRESB ABENESREENMGE

Refer to notes 2.9, 4.1(i) and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FRAMGAMBHRRMF2.9 B sE4.1() B E16 o

The Group has an investment in an unlisted private fund
with an underlying residential project (the “Project”) located
in Cambodia (the “Cambodia Fund”). The Group accounted
for this investment as a financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss and it was classified under Level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy.
EEEREN—EARAUNRBENEEEETEE ([HE])
MAEREES ((RBEERES]) BESEENRAABER
ERHEEHFABRNSREEAR ZIREFAALRARE
EERE=ZEHK-

The Project accounted for substantially all of the Cambodia
Fund’s net assets and was carried at fair value. Accordingly,
the Cambodia Fund was stated at fair value with reference
to its net asset value of approximately HKD14.7 million,
representing 4.4% of the Group’s total assets as at
31 March 2028.
BEERERERFEENRBRARBO T ARABEAK A
It R2023%3A31E R RESIIRRLEHEEFEN
ARBEMNITESET (h EXEEEELI4% -
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Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
included:

B EERAR BN EEEEH T A ABENEREE
M ENEZEF B

e Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the fair value estimation;

e BBEEEMHTEEMEMNBEMEMEIIQNA
BEfFTHEARRE AT ERERNERRR:

° Interviewed the Cambodia Fund’s administrator in
relation to the status of the Project to corroborate
with management’s representation;

e FMTRHEZESHNTHERFHAIEBERAEEIUFE
EEEEMEZEHR;

e Circulated confirmation to the Cambodia Fund’s
administrator for the Group’s ownership and
the net asset value of the Cambodia Fund as
at 31 December 2022 and cross checked the
relevant information with the Cambodia Fund’s
audited financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022;

e MRBEESHITHEBRZEITTHR UHER E&
B AE2022F1I2ABTEH BN RBEEESHNEE
FE URMRERESD FZE E£2022612A31
HIEFEMNMBEHREETR X ZY:



We focused on this area because the Cambodia Fund was
valued based on a model with input/assumptions that are
not observable by third parties. The valuation involved
significant judgement and subjective assumptions.
BPBEIHRE DHRRBERESHNEERERE=JTT
ABRENERMEA BR - ZREBESIRERATRE
BlRER -

° Reviewed procedures performed by management
to assess the appropriateness of adopting the net
asset value of the Cambodia Fund as a basis in
determining its fair value;

e EHERBEBTWEFUAHUARBEESNEE
FEREERREAABENEE L

° Obtained valuation report of the Project held by
the Cambodia Fund as at 31 December 2022
performed by an independent third party valuer and
evaluated the reasonableness and appropriateness
of the valuation methodology and key assumptions
adopted, with the assistance of internal valuation
experts; and

e HISH—EBBEIUNE=ZFHEMRRBEEESHE
#IE B 12022612 A31 B b B E R E R B EE
BERNHH THBHESEREARRENSELER
BEM R

° Performed independent online research on key
assumptions adopted in the aforementioned
valuation including market information of Cambodia
properties’ market from 31 December 2022 up to
31 March 2023 to corroborate with management’s
assessment that there was no significant changes
in key assumptions during the period.

e ETHERELAGEMRRANERERINELE LW
7t B IEH2022%12A31H £2023F3A31H R i
ENMENSEMNEEETEERHRBRRKRRKR
BERE (LW

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the valuation of
the Cambodia Fund were supportable by the evidence
obtained and procedures performed.

ER b RMRREEEERBREECHETERNH
BABERESINTEERNEBRNBITO R T FE-
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Recognition of contract revenue
BREHBA

Refer to notes 2.19, 4.1(ii) and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.
BLMEEMBREMFE2.19 - W aE4.1(i) RMIFES ©

The Group recorded contract revenue from the services of
bare shell fit-out, restacking and reinstatement for the year
ended 31 March 2023 of approximately HKD496.1 million.
B E2023F3A31IBILFE BEEEEEAXAREE BEER
BRBBHFEOWALLI61BEET-

Revenue from contracts for the above services is recognised
over the period of the contract by measuring the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation
on the basis of the actual costs incurred by the Group up to
the year-end date as a percentage of total estimated costs
for each contract.

FiBRBEHRARGOHENERE EXEREFARD
EEZERKRAEZSEOMFTERNANBOLAEBNERE
R TR 2 £ E -

We focused on this area as significant management’s
judgement is involved to estimate the costs to complete
individual service contract for projects in progress. The
estimated costs to completion is used to determine the
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation of an individual service contract and to recognise
relevant contract revenue accordingly.

BRI LR E TR EE K ERETRREESLIER
B A8 B BB IR JE AT o {4 5t 5T AR AR B 10 7 E 18 BI AR
BaWBROEETK 2 ERE W HEMEREBS QWA -
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Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
recognition of contract revenue included:

RO AREEE

REHNRANEZIEF B

Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the costs to complete estimation;

iR E B AL A M E AR M 5T A BT A AR BT S
EOEMESRRREZNKT FETERERNE
AR

Selected the ongoing contracts on a sample basis
and reviewed the terms and conditions of the
contracts to understand the respective work nature
and contractual relationship with the customers;
BRMEEEERETHEETHNANLEFNG MM IKRRK
RigM UTHETEHERETPHES AR

Checked the correspondences with selected
customers, including project acceptance documents
or communication evidence to evaluate the
reasonableness of management’s estimates on the
progress towards completion of a project;
REEETEFNBEG BEBEEAXHIRER
BURIEEREEHEE X ERMTNAEN:

Assessed management’s determination of the
progress toward complete satisfaction of the
projects through inquiry with project managers,
inspection of project status summary and other
correspondences with customers and performing
site visits;

BARMEAKLEESHN REBEE R RETEFETH
BEWETRSEER U EEIREEYIER THE
[EBVRE



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M 2 BE RS

Key Audit Matter
EREREE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNERNNEEBAREXRSE

e Reviewed the latest project budgets and quotations
from subcontractors in assessing management’s
determination of estimated total costs of projects;

e EMEHMEEEERIAHEHRE UFHERERE
HIE B At B AR TE

e Tested the total costs incurred up to the date of
statement of financial position by checking, on
a sample basis, subcontractors’ invoices and/or
quotations; and

o RMBEEERBBRENAHBENBEZN HIRE Y
HEVBRAKRBHESENAKNAETIR &

e Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
contract revenue and costs.

o ARANWARKAGTENERNE -

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions used to estimate total
costs of projects and progress towards complete
satisfaction as at year end date were supportable by the
evidence obtained and procedures performed.

ER EiER BARRERBHMIEB BRI LR
FHRATKEENBAMEANAEG RRREBEER R
EETHREF -
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Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables

BREEUAREZRRESEBARNBERT G

Refer to notes 2.9(iv), 3.1(ii)(c), 4.1(iii)), 18 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.
E2HR A M HRER W TE2.90v) ~ M FE3.1(i)(c) « HF&E4.1 (i) »
MHEE18 R Ft5E19 o

The Group had gross contract assets of approximately
HKD106.1 million and gross trade and retention receivables
of approximately HKD90.1 million as at 31 March 20283.
20233 A31H BEEBENEGHNEERLELNR/106.18
BETARES RRE S BUGREFHNRIOABESBT

The loss allowances for these financial assets were
determined based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. To measure expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention receivables had
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. The contract assets related to
unbilled work in progress had substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade and retention receivables for
the same types of contracts.
ZETHREENBERENEBEERENRER REHEE
EBRRETFT-RIAEEHAEEEE GREEUREBESIR
RETERARERBEHRAEERRSE LB RS HE-
ERNEESPRRAARCREIR SAREREGONEI R
RE & B FREE KRB R E R

The expected loss rates were based on the payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced over a period of 24 months before
31 March 2023.

FEHEIE R AR #HE M RIE N K2023F3A31H Al 224
BRNEENEEREEEEE-
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Our audit procedures in relation to impairment
assessment of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables included:
BMRBEEENEEUNRE S RRE S EWKFREFTH
WEZEFRE:

e Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors involved in
the loss allowance estimation such as subjectivity;

e BMBAEERMIAMIEEMBEEMBREFBGBT IR
FEMESRREZOKE  mEBE - A EARE
E-ol RSN

e Understood the key controls over management’s
assessment of expected credit loss for contract
assets and trade and retention receivables including
the evaluations of customers’ credit profiles and
their respective credit risk;

e THEEEMRAGEGHNEENURES RRESEW
REHCEEER(BETIREPNEEEN LK
EWEERR) OBERZEGER:

e Checked, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade and retention receivables as at 31 March
2023 to the underlying financial records;

o IEHMEEERBEN2023F3AIB AT BLEAN
B 5 MIRE S BB ERE 1B

e We tested, on a sample basis, the historical
settlement of the customers by checking to the bank
slips to assess the effectiveness of management’s
estimation process on historical loss rates; and

s HMEMBEEENAREEFPHNRITEBRNE LA
HER UNTHEREHELBAXNMEBENE
B K



The historical loss rates were adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the contract
assets and trade and retention receivables.
BEBEBXTURABIRMEEEFEEANEEUARE
SERECRRWHRENNBERZEEERRNE AT RATE
MEHR -

Management then estimated the loss allowances of
contract assets and trade and retention receivables based
on the adjusted loss rates, the outstanding balances of
contract assets and ageing profiles of trade and retention
receivables as at 31 March 2023.
EEEBHEMBIEN2023FIANAMANEELHAEEIE
ERABREEHRKRE S RRE € EBRZREMRLEE L
BEUNRES RRESEBWR G EEREETHT-

We focused on the expected credit loss allowance for
contract assets and trade and retention receivables due to
the magnitude of their gross balance at the year end date
and the estimation of relevant expected credit loss involves
significant judgement and subjective assumptions.
HREHNEENRE D RRE S EURIEF A B NEREER
BHNBEERREEERNMAA T RERHE M EHRE
MEEETEEREEEIEEH-

° Performed market research to obtain industry
data and challenged management with supporting
evidence to assess reasonableness of forward-
looking information used by management in
determining the adjusted loss rates.

o EITMBSHEABBITRBURAKEEIRE  EMmaT
HERERETKARBEXSMARNBHEENZ
EEMo

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions applied in the impairment
assessment of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables were supportable by the evidence obtained
and procedures performed.

ERLEMER RMRAEEEBHENEEURE S RIR
& & W RO AR A E R HENREEDAEZELD
EITHREF X
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

BAHNBER DHGAMBREABEES A FEAR
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BTHEEHE RETEREREE - LA
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° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Chung Bor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23 June 2023
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

B 220239331 H I FI&

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Administrative expenses

Fair value changes of financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss

Provision for impairment losses on
financial assets

Impairment losses on intangible assets

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance income/(costs) — net

Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income, net
of income tax
ltem that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss:
— Exchange differences arising
on translation of foreign operation

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year

Note
ok
A 5
R A 7
EF
H Al A 6
THAEX 7
BAREFAEBZEZ
ERMEENANLEE 16
CRIEEREERBE
B 3.1(i(c)
EREERERE 15
BEEAN (FB)
F TN
B 75 AR AR

RN (RA) —F8 8

METESHRANER, (EE)
s’ 10

FRERN(BE)

HitZHE W RSB

HEAGEEF 7 EE
Ba B A
—BMEBIIEBTELDN
PE 5 =R

FREEWKE (FHE)
k]
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2022
20224
HKD’000
FET

413,122
(390,385)

22,737
49
(30,332)
1,353

(602)

(6,795)

161
(199)

(38)

(6,833)
(413)

(7,246)

190

(7,056)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

B E2023%F3A31H IF F/&E
2022
20224
Note HKD’'000
iz FiET
Profit/(loss) for the year EHEFERRER (BIE) :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRABIER A (5,735)
Non-controlling interests IR (1,511)
(7,246)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) EEtFREE
for the year attributable to: Wi (848
Owners of the Company PIN/NEIEF SN (5,626)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR (1,430)
(7,056)
HK Cents
JEA
Earnings/(loss) per share attributable 72 T H A E1L
to owners of the Company SREFN, (FE)
Basic and diluted AR R #E 11 (2.90)

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other  FilifR& 1B N E M2 MUK E LR —HEE -
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.

+
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AS AT 31 MARCH 2023
R20234F3H31H

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss
Deposits and prepayments
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Trade and retention receivables

Contract assets

Deposits, other receivables and

prepayments
Income tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity

Equity attributable to the owners

of the Company
Share capital

Shares held under share award scheme

Share premium
Exchange reserve
Retained earnings

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Note
ok

BE
IRBEE

LRGN 13
RAEEE 14
mEEE 15
BARBEFABREZ

ERMEE 16
Be MIER R 20
BIEFSHERE 24
RBEE

B 5 KR E UK 18
EHEE 19
e Hib W R &

SRR 20
EE4EETEN

HEMREFEY 21
WEE
s
EKATEBAEGERELZ

fi& 7 22(a)
f& 15 52 B 5T 8 T P %

{5 0 22(b)
& 5 &= (&

PE 5 &

REEF
IR
wmiER
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2022
20224
HKD’000
FET

1,707
3,316
11,965

14,647

338
1,189

33,162

44,673
83,581

3,158

2,692
119,776

253,880

287,042

1,653

(2,998)
57,632

378
80,293

136,858
5,291

142,149



AS AT 31 MARCH 2023

R2023%F3H31H
2022
20224
Note HKD’000
Vioga FETT
Liabilities =R
Non-current liabilities kARBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 909
909
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade payables =Y ANEN 23 124,151
Accruals and other payables FEET B EAth FE A 3R 23 2,172
Contract liabilities AREaE 19 15,002
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 2,659
Income tax payables B PTS L -
143,984
Total liabilities weE 144,893
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 287,042

The consolidated financial statements on pages 110 to 195 ZF110E195H MR A M ISR C & E 2 1H2023%F6
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of HA23B#ERKETIEEAUTEETRESSE
Directors on 23 June 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sai Chuen Hui Man Yee Maggie
FtF FER
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEFE HITEFE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should & #it4R& B FE AR S 3% FE BABE BT BT o — F BRI -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

== N\ /

)

ﬁlﬂn\@%

FOR THE YEAB’ ENDED 31 MARCH 2023

B 202393314 IF F/F

At 1 April 2021

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year:

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operation

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

At 31 March 2022

At 1 April 2022

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year:

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operation

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year

At 31 March 2023

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

#2021E4 818

FRER
FRAMRENE:

BEGNEBELH
EXER

FR2E(BR) /
g3t

202238316

R2022F4A1R

FREF
FRAMZENE:

BEGNEBELH
EXER

FR2ERE/
(BR) A%

202338316

Attributable to owners of the Company

ENEEEAESL
Shares
held under
share award
scheme Non-
Share Share  (Note 22(b) Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium and 27) reserve earnings Subtotal interests  Total equity
R 1752 B
HET
R G
(HtzE22(b)
(& R RE Kear) EHGE BEF PNE FBRRER BER
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
1,563 57,632 (2,998) 269 86,028 142,484 6,721 149,205
- - - - (5,735) (5,735) (1,611) (7,246)
- - - 109 - 109 81 190
- - - 109 (5,735) (5,626) (1,430) (7,056)
1,653 57,632 (2,998) 378 80,293 136,858 5,291 142,149
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 378 80,293 136,858 5,291 142,149
- - - - 1,040 1,040 1,875 2,915
- - - (263) - (263) (96) (359)
- - - (263) 1,040 777 1,779 2,556
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 115 81,333 137,635 7,070 144,705
PR RSB RERBENM T — (% -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023
B 220234331 H I F/&

Note
ks
Cash flows from operating activities K& FZHREFRE
Cash (used in)/generated from operations & (FiH) /E4L 2
R 31(a)
Interest received 2 HF B
Income tax refund/(paid) BiR/ () FBH
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating REEE 2 FH £
activities (Fd) HAX
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHZ2RERE
Payments for purchase of property, plant SNEEWE HWENM
and equipment B4
Net cash outflow from investing REZBZ2FEESRH
activities
Cash flows from financing activities METHZ2RERE
Lease payments HMERK 31(b)
Net cash outflow from financing activities B & E8 2 FR &R H
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRELEEY
and cash equivalents (W) /EmFEHE
Effects of exchange rate changes EEMEWIRS R
on cash and cash equivalents ReZEBYM2wE
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April R4RA1ERE R
Cash and cash equivalents at A3A3IERER
31 March HeZEEY 21

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read L4 &4 E &

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2022
20224
HKD’000
FBET

12,657
161
(1,188)

11,630

(1,095)

(1,095)

(3,319)

(3,319)

7,216
72

112,488

119,776

MR e LA P I S — GBI E

+
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Sanbase Corporation Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on 24 March 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business is 16/F,
Loon Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in
the provision of interior fit-out solutions in Hong Kong and
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The ultimate
holding company of the Company is Madison Square
International Investment Limited. The ultimate controlling
party of the Group is Mr. Wong Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong” or
the “Controlling Shareholder”).

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 4 January 2018.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) on 23 June
2023.

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are for the Group consisting the
Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”) and disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(“HKCO") Cap.622, laws of Hong Kong.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for certain financial assets measured at
fair value.

Amended standards and accounting
guideline adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amended
standards and accounting guideline for the
first time for their financial statements period
commencing 1 April 2022:

Amendments to Annual
Improvements Project

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRS 3,
HKAS 16 and HKAS 37

Narrow-scope
Amendments

AG 5 (Revised) Revised Accounting
Guideline 5 Merger
Accounting for
Common Control

Combinations

The amendments and accounting guideline
listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current
or future periods.

A EREREZEGE AV B RREMRAD
TERHERRBE-BRAHBEN ZFHE
RIBEEZ2RFEER HEM -MBEBRR/AE
(BARE REMEQEMAERK) mE-

21 wRBEE
() BIEBHBEREEINR (BEAR
LN

RRABERE MWK TIRIRFAA BB
FRMBHmEER ([BRMBREE
BRI A REFBEDF622F (BB R
A ([ (ERDTAKRED) 1)@
REEREmREL -

(i) EBEHRAE
A BMRTIRRBEL K AE RS
WEFHEAANEFEZEBMT AR

(i) AEERANKBEITENME S

NEEENE2022F4 A1 H A BF
TEMSHAREER T T &IEETa) B

MesEs -
FEWERR AN BREEA
(EFTA) 2018 220204
MEEwE
EBPERE%ED NEEEET
B BHAEGH A
F1oRRAB G

ERIE37% (BRI A)

SitHEolF5% (KER]) BB g3l
F 53 SR
BHEAHEA

LAEERT MG 5T 15 51 H B E I
RN BRLBEATE LBEF IS
HEMHARARMEELEATE -

+
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2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv)

New and amended standards and
interpretations not yet adopted

The following new accounting standard,
amendments and interpretation have been
published but are not mandatory for 31 March
2023 reporting period and have not been early

21 RREE (&)
(iv) BERFRAGHFENNBSTERR2E

LATET 2R B R EE B
1B 30 3 58 &l $R A 702023F 3 A31H #
SHIM BN AREAEBIRERL -

adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2
BEAGHENBEIRRES
MBmERBNEGRE
E29% (85T A)
Amendments to HKAS 8
BB ERE8N
SCHEN)
Amendments to HKAS 12

BB ERE125%
SCEHENY)

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BBV BmEERNEI7IR
SCEHEN)

HKFRS 17

BEMBREENETH
HKFRS 17

BBV BREERE17HR
HK Int 5 (Revised)

FEBRBES (KIERT)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies (amendments)

SAFBEREE (BFTA)

Definition of Accounting Estimates (amendments)

it EE (BFTA)

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising

from a Single Transaction (amendments)
BEBRXHEENEEMNBEMRBNERELEMEN
(EETA)
Amendments to HKFRS 17
EEMBRELENFE175 (BRTA)

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information
NREREBMBREERNE175H K
BEMBRELENFEIR —LLRER
Insurance Contracts (new standard)
Rz & % CGRr#R)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation

of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause
(HK Int 5 (Revised))

EREREEST (REF)UBRERZEN—EE
HBEERERBEERNZERAERZ R
(HEBEREER (KIEF]) )

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Effective for

annual periods

beginning on
or after

RUATHEHRZE
FIE Y FEEE X

1 April 2023

2023%F4H1H

1 April 2023

2023F4H1H

1 April 2023

2023%F4H1H

1 April 2023
2023%F4H1H

1 April 2023
2023F4H1H
1 April 2023

2023%F4 A1 A
1 April 2024

202454 A1H



2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
New and amended standards and

(iv)

MR EEE (7)
(iv)

2.1

interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB EREIR
SCHEN)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BAGHERE1R
(EFT )

Amendments to HKFRS 16

BAGFERE 165 (BT
)

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

BBV BmEERNE109E R
gt ERIE285 (&

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

MEBRIERBEED

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (amendments)
Mt R FERBEE (BFIAR)

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
ERERWEERE

Sales or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

HEEHABECENAELE HNEELEX
AE

1 SR BR AR B9 2E R AE FT 2 R (48

Effective for

annual periods

beginning on
or after

RUTBE#R 2%

FIE I F B LXK

1 April 2024
20244818

1 April 2024
2024F4H1H

1 April 2024
2024F4 A1 R

To be determined

FEE

)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the adoption of the above new standard
and amendments to existing standards and
interpretation would not have a material impact
on the Group in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
The Group intends to adopt the above new
standards and amendments to existing
standards and interpretation when they become
effective.

RAFEZRRA HTM LA FHERR
HEARAMET RRETEHAR
B E RS OR RS AR AT ERE R
KNRXPELEEAZE -AEBHRN
A R B A bl R B R BT IR R
MIERT Rk o
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2.2 Consolidation

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases. The Group applies
the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date. Intra-
group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. When necessary,
amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted
to conform with the Group’s policies.

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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2.3

2.4

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing on the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statement
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources
and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

2.3

2.4

BYWHEER
RHTERRNRERR AR BES K-
RABRREZBERERK -WERFH
EEDARARARD W R B R BEEA
BE o

fis B BB B BB 2 R B R AR OB A 2 W
HAR AWMBUMERRPREREE
BHEGVBRRMAIKKREDEEFE
(EEEE)NKREE MARBZRENR
BB HZEMNEQRANKRELETH
BRI -

DEE
REDHMBAMNEEZRELERRE ([XTER

BREE|)RBEZ2ABERE —H2HA=2
W EBFLERRE (WH B IEHRBEIER
ROATER) BAENEREREFERED
BB &RHB -
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2.5 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is HKD and majority of
the subsidiaries of the Group operate in Hong
Kong and the PRC whereas their functional
currency are HKD and Renminbi respectively.
The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HKD, which is the Company’s and
the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions
or valuation where items are re-measured.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was determined. Translation differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”)
recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair
value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified
as fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated
at the closing rate at the reporting date;

(b) income and expenses for each income
statements are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions);
and

(¢) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity
and translated at the closing rate. Currency
translation differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign
entities on consolidation are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

25 JNEIBRE (&)
(i) E@MAF
e EHETEB TR 2 EE 250
ER(MERASRERSCERBENE
M) 2 EZBERBBRRIZAT AR
HREEVEK:

(@) BUHBRARMEINZEELA
ﬁﬁ& =B T E R

(b) HWaEERzWamRRAXIIRFY
PE R E (FRIF L F I BEL I
HZERHHHEREXZATE
ZEBOE BAME KB
BRXHBHZEXRBKE) &

c) FBEREEMEENERHREEZE
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REBEEIEEBMELEZBAERAR
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2.6 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and 2-5 years
equipment

Leasehold 4 years or over the lease term,
improvement whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 4 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and recognised in profit or loss.
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2.7 Intangible assets

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”),
or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill
is allocated represents the lowest level within
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU
or the group of CGUs to which goodwill has
been allocated is compared to the recoverable
amount of the unit, which is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an
expense and is not subsequently reversed.
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2.7

2.8

Intangible assets (Continued)

(ii) Customer relationship and contracts
Customer relationship and contracts acquired
as part of a business combination are
capitalised at fair value separately from goodwill
at acquisition date and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate
the cost of the intangible assets over their
estimated useful lives of one to three years.

(iii) Money lenders licence

Money lenders licence is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. The cost of a money lenders
licence acquired is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The money lenders licence will not
be amortised until its useful life is determined
to be finite, but subject to impairment testing
annually.

(iv) Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets with a
limited useful life using the straight-line method
over 1 to 3 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets, are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for certain
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

2.7

2.8

BILEE (#)

(i) EFBEREREHN
REEEFPERRENREBE I
W—BH TERAALEBEEANCERE
BomR ERARBBFTHERZFR
BEEBIK -BHENERERERE
EWRARA(EE A AF 12345
ETE -

(iii) MEAER
A AR RBIZ A AR AR EBE
Pl BR o W HE IE A M BR Y B R B
HHEOAABE WEARRBETgH®
W EZHACAFHBEEABR
BEGFETRERR -

(iv) BTG EMYR
AEBUERASTERNETLEE
REBEREEIE3FANETHE -

FTREENRE
THEEERFHNEE (WAENETLEE)
BEBE UESFETETRENA-EF

R AR B B EETTRER  BER
BREENGEEBLEATRESENE
HER-ANODEEAEENRERE
ERAREREBEME ZFNRFTE 5
HERET S - AN KB R A B # R AR
enE (ReELBEU)NKREKFENE
ERR -BREEN HRRENFEREE
KR &RE B RETRT UETRESR
B FREE -



2.9 Investments and financial assets

(i)

(ii)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss), and

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income. For
investments in equity instruments that are not
held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for the
equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when
and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classified its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held
for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.
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2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(iii) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling
the financial assets, where the assets’
cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in
profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
profit or loss. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented as separate line item
in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not
reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost.
The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. For contract assets
and trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(ii)(c) for further
details.
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2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.11 Trade, retention and other receivables

Trade and retention receivables are amounts due
from customers for service performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade, retention
and other receivables is expected in the one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-current.

Trade, retention and other receivables are
recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant
financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade, retention and
other receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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2.12 Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from
the customer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer.

The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net contract asset or a
net contract liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and recognised
as contract assets if the measure of the remaining
conditional rights to consideration exceed the
satisfied performance obligations. Conversely, the
contract is a liability and recognised as contract
liabilities if consideration received (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer exceeds the
measure of the remaining unsatisfied performance
obligations. In the consolidated statement of
financial position, the contract assets mainly consist
of unbilled work in progress and contract liabilities
mainly consist of receipt in advance from customers.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment
under the same approach adopted for impairment
assessment of trade debtors. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group transfers the
goods or services to the customers and therefore
satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer are capitalised and presented as
contract related assets, if the Group expects to
recover those costs, and are subsequently amortised
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customers of the goods or services
to which the assets relate. The Group recognises
an impairment loss in the profit or loss to the extent
that carrying amount of the contract related assets
recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of
consideration that the Group expects to receive
less the costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not been recognised as
expenses.
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2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and
cash equivalents.

2.14 Share capital and shares held under share

award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity instruments, for example as the result of a
share buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to the owners of the
Company until the shares are cancelled or reissued.
Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any
directly attributable incremental transaction costs
and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the owners of the Company.

2.15 Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for services
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured
and are usually paid within one year or less of
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented
as current liabilities unless payment is not due within
12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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2.16 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable
income based on the applicable income tax rate for
each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and generates
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it
arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilize those temporary differences and losses.
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2.16 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised
for temporary differences between the carrying
amount and tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where
the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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2.17 Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the reporting dates.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity or paternity leaves are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong
which is generally funded through payments
to insurance companies under defined
contribution plan. It pays contributions to
administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
Moreover, all the employees of the Group’s
entities incorporated in the PRC participate
in employee social security plans, including
pension, medical, housing and other welfare
benefits, organised and administered by the
local governments. The Group has no further
payment obligations once these contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees
who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully
in the contributions. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.
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2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Provision for bonus plans
Bonus payments to employees are discretionary
to management. Bonus payments are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when
the Group has formally announced the bonus
payments to employees.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses. Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset when the reimbursement is virtually
certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any on item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.
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2.19 Revenue recognition

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the
sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown, net of discounts and after eliminating
sales with the group companies. The Group
recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer
over time or at a point in time. Control of the
asset is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

o creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs;
or

o does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforce able right to
payment for performance completed to
date.
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2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the
contract by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured
based on the Group’s efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation, by
reference to the contract costs incurred up to
the end of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria
have been met for the Group’s activities
described below:

(a)  provision of bare shell fit-out, restacking
and reinstaterment services

Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised over time as the
Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset or work in progress that the
customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced. Thus, the Group satisfies
a performance obligation over time, by
reference to the actual costs incurred as
a percentage of the total estimated costs
for each contract.

(b) rendering of churn works, design,
maintenance and other services

Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised when the services
were rendered.
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2.19 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest
method. When a receivable is impaired, the
Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future
cash flows discounted at original effective
interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest
rate.

(iii) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when the right to
receive payment is established.

2.20 Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and
a corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payment that are based on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease,

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
that option.
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2.20 Leases (Continued)

2.21

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising
the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability, any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of car
park and offices are recognised on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the final dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders and interim dividends are
approved by the Company’s Board.

2.22 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions.
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2.22 Government grants (Continued) 222G BY (#)

Government grants relating to costs are deferred FRAXRANBFRBEERNFaHBEK
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period AT B EE WA B S TR -
necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.
3.1 Financial risk factors 3.1 HEEKEE
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of AREEMNEZEHFEEBGZEVBRERR: T
financial risks: market risk (including foreign i%ﬂﬁﬁ (RENERR - EXRR - RER
exchange risk, price risk, cash flow and fair value AAEMNERERE)  EFEERRRTEMT
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The KEIE’]%%’%;H P EIRETE RN
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses cia rﬂ MHEMEEINE TS RKESEEARN
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks £ B ﬁﬁ‘ki‘%fﬁﬁﬁﬁi‘ﬁﬁ/@ETf‘J % N
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.
Risk management is carried out under the policies [ B B 1R R E’ﬂ’%?A?ﬁt}EE’UEﬁZ%iﬂﬁ
approved by the Board. The Directors identifies and FHLEENERE EARETE M5
evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with R -EEgRABERKREEIEES IF
its operating units. The Board provides principles for BE TSRS 7w shE=Rb -
overall risk management, as well as policies covering FZREBE EERR A LRKRE TSRS
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, g
interest rate risk, credit risk and investing of excess
liquidity.
() Market risk (i) ™WEEK
(a)  Foreign exchange risk (a) SIEEfx
The Group is exposed to foreign AEEmEASEEERARKRME
exchange risk arising from various ARSMNER R FEHEET ([E
currency exposures, primarily with respect 77:J VBB - ARRFERS B
to the United States Dollar (“US$”"). REENEE J«A&B’V!W%i‘“ﬁ’]
Foreign exchange risk arises from future ﬁﬁxéﬁﬂjgﬁiﬂ\ﬂﬂ %
commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities, and net investments
in foreign operations.
The foreign currency exchange exposure B ER I B JT B S ST B 48 - B A
on financial asset at FVPL denominated in ETLIEMEE KRB ERIMNE R

US$ is considered to be minimal as HKD 0 AR BRI o
is currently pegged to USS$.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(b)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price changes
arising from debt investment classified
as financial assets at FVPL. The Group
maintains the debt investment for long-
term strategic purposes.

As at 31 March 2023, if the fair value
of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL
had been 10% higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, profit for
the year would have been approximately
HKD1,470,000 higher/lower (2022:
loss for the year would have been
HKD1,460,000 lower/higher).

The Group’s investment as at year end
date is not publicly traded, management
exercises its judgement to determine its
fair value with reference to the net asset
value provided by its administrators and
discounted cash flow of its underlying
residential project.

Management is of the opinion that the
Group has minimal exposure to the price
risk as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(c)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the
Group does not have significant interest-
bearing assets, or liabilities. Fluctuation of
market rates does not have a significant
impact to the Group’s performance.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, contract assets, financial assets at
FVPL, trade and retention receivables, deposits
and other receivables. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts
of these financial assets.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.

(@)

Credit risk of cash and cash equivalents

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
were mainly deposited with high quality
financial institutions. Therefore, the
directors do not expect any losses
arising from non-performance by these
counterparties.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(b)

(©

Credit risk of deposits and other
receivables

Deposits and other receivables were
mainly rental and fit-out deposits,
refundable deposits placed to
subcontractors and suppliers and other
miscellaneous receivables. The credit
quality of deposits and other receivables
has been assessed with reference
to historical information about the
counterparties default rates and financial
position of the counterparties. Given
the track record of transaction with and
repayment from these counterparties in
full, the Directors are of the opinion that
the risk of default by these counterparties
is not significant and does not expect
any losses from non-performance by
the counterparties. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of the deposits and other
receivables is assessed to be immaterial
and no provision was made as at
31 March 2023 and 2022.

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables

The Group’s largest customer accounted
for approximately 17% of revenue and
the second largest customer accounted
for 7% of revenue (2022: the largest
customer accounted for approximately
11% of revenue and the second largest
customer accounted for 7% of revenue).

The Group’s largest customer and
second largest customer accounted
for approximately 42.7% and Nil
of the Group’s trade and retention
receivables outstanding as at 31 March
2023 respectively (2022: 0.1% and Nil
respectively).

The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit loss
provision for all contract assets and trade
and retention receivables.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(c)

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables (Continued)

To measure the expected credit losses,
contract assets and trade and retention
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due. The contract assets relate
to unbilled work in progress and have
substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same
types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected
loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation of the loss rates
for the contract assets.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of sales over a period
of 24 months before 31 March 2023 and
2022 and the corresponding historical
credit losses experienced within this
period.

The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

Impairment losses on contract assets
and trade and retention receivables
are presented as impairment losses
on financial assets in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line
item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R AR MY EE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. KEABER/
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B¥EREZE (£)
(i)  Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERAR(Z)
(c) Credit risk of contract assets and trade (c) BHEEUREZRIRETEK

HEEEREE (&)
A20234 20223 A31H W H

and retention receivables (Continued)

The loss allowance as at 31 March 2023

and 2022 was determined as follows:

EREEENT

Trade and retention receivables

ESRRESERTE
More than
Contract 31-60 days  61-90 days 91-180 days 180 days
assets Current past due past due past due past due Total
B B bt} il
BNEE I 31-60% 61-90% 91-180% #iB180% At
HKD'000 HKD 000 HKD000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
31 March 2023 2023%3H31H
Residential Properties FENE
Gross carrying amount EEEE - - - - - - -
Loss allowance BREE - - - - - - -
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ~ FEMABHEEHER - - - - - -
Commercial Properties ik E
Gross carrying amount BREE 106,145 55,533 18,561 103 6,765 9,134 90,096
Loss allowance BEEE 669 356 151 1 274 1,064 1,846
Weighted average lifetime FEBMETHES
expected credit loss rate FEBEX 0.6% 0.6% 0.8% 1.0% 4.1% 11.6%
31 March 2022 2022%3H31H
Residential Properties rENE
Gross carrying amount LEEE - - - - - 3,682 3,582
Loss allowance BERE - - - - - 3,582 3,582
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ~ FEHMALREEHRER - - - - - 100%
Commercial Properties BANE
Gross carrying amount BEEE 84,188 17,290 7,729 12,680 6,863 1,471 46,033
Loss allowance BEERB 607 125 120 525 427 163 1,360
Weighted average lifetime FEBNETHES
expected credit loss rate EEEBRX 0.7% 0.7% 1.6% 4.1% 6.2% 11.1%
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

()

(@

Credit risk of contract assets and trade
and retention receivables (Continued)

The movement of loss allowances for
contract assets, trade and retention
receivables as at 31 March 2023 and
2022 are as follows:

Loss allowance as at 1 April 2021

Increase in loss allowance
recognised in profit or loss

Loss allowance as at 31 March 2022
and 1 April 2022

Increase in loss allowance recognised
in profit or loss

Write off of impaired trade receivables

Loss allowance as at 31 March 2023

Trade and retention receivables are
written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group.

Financial assets at FVPL

The Group exposed to credit risk in
relation to debt investments that are
measured at FVPL.

As at 31 March 2023, the maximum
exposure of the investment is the carrying
amount of approximately HKD14,687,000
(2022: HKD14,647,000).
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity
will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial
assets.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash
equivalents.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the reporting date
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are based on the
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances
due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances, as the impact of discounting is not
significant.

HKD'000
T

At 31 March 2023 #2023E3A31A
Trade payables (Note 23) ERRMN(H#23)
Accruals and other payables JER REAMENK
Lease liabilities (Note 74) RE&E (HiH14)
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3731H
Trade payables (Note 23) BARMT(H#23) 124,151
Accruals and other payables JEst REA N 1,735
Lease liabilities (Note 74) MEBE(Mit14) 2,749

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s net current
asset is HKD116,726,000 (31 March 2022:
HKD109,896,000).

MERRERE(£)

(iii) AEBHERR
MEMEBRIETEHABITURIMNR
THE—eREENFENEESHE
ERHEBEE TR -

3.1

BEERORBMEEREREGT THN
RehkBReSEY-

TRABAEENERABOHAER
BEMANRERBREERESR D
HAMRSRBEELN DT TRE
BHERDERGHARMBERSRE -
HRERATEYAEXR B+ @A
MBI ESRENER@E:.

HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
TET TET TET TET TEL

- - - 124,151 124,151

- - - 1,735 1,735

836 9% - 3,681 3,568

MN2023FE3A31H RNEFEBNRTHE
EFEA116,726,00078 JT (202243
F31H :109,896,000/8 7T ) °
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3.2

3.3

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are
sufficient for investing activities including acquisition
of new businesses.

The gearing ratio (calculated at total debt divided by
total equity) of the Group as at 31 March 2023 was
1.4% (2022: 2.5%).

Fair value estimation

The following financial instruments carried at fair
value are categories based on the level of inputs to
valuation techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The
different levels have been defined as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2);

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B RRHEE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the
end of the reporting period by level of the fair value
measurement hierarchy.

Level 1

-
2023 2022
2023 2022%F
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FET

Unlisted debt investments (Note 76) 3k EEKIRE (#116) - -

BREREE &)

3.3 DAREME (&)

TREAAEBEFEERIRTASEEARE
BERARUAREBEFENSR TR

Level 2 Level 3 Total

£-E £ZE EEl
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
2023%F 2020%F 2023F 2020 20235 2020F
HKD'000 HKD'000 ~ HKD'000 HKD'000 ~ HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FHET FET FET

- 14,687 14,647 14,687 14,647

Disclosures of the financial assets that is measured
at fair value is set out in Note 16 and are included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

There were no transfers of financial assets between
level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy
classifications for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate
their carrying amounts.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2023 and
2022.

There were no changes in valuation techniques for
the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

BHEARBEAENEREEZHEHD
B FE1630 7A20234F K 20223 A31 B 4
ABDRBEERE=ZELL-

H E0023%F K2022FE3A31HILFEE £ —
B -EHZ_ERAFZBAAEEBHE»HBEZM
I 4 B 75 B R B o

BRBHERAHENSREEMBENRR
ENEAKEEMRS-

PA20234F 202243 A31H M EH & 7
TEDBEARETE

H Z2023F 2022563 A31H IEFE  HE
BRI E s -

HEL£EARF 2023FEHE
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R e mSETE TERBELRRRE
HAREZ(BEREBRBRTHREHSRKREFNE
EIEHY) -

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 BEREHMEFARER

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and

assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions
are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from
these involving estimations (see below), that the
directors have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) Estimated valuation of a financial asset at

fair value through profit or loss

The Group holds a financial asset that is not
traded or quoted in active markets. The Group
uses its judgement to select the appropriate
methods and make assumptions based on
market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period to estimate the fair value of
such financial instrument classified as level 3
in the fair value hierarchy. Valuation techniques
include net asset values as provided by
fund administrators and discounted cash
flow approach which utilises inputs such as
projected cash flow and discount rate of the
underlying project/investment. Although best
estimate is used in estimating fair values,
there are inherent limitations in any valuation
technique. Estimated fair values may differ
from the values that would have been used if a
readily available market existed.
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4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates
of contract revenue, contract costs and
variation orders prepared for each construction
contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from
time to time provided by major subcontractors,
suppliers or vendors involved and the
experience of the management. In order to
keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
management conducts periodic reviews of
the budgets of contracts by comparing the
budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimates may have
an impact on the profit recognised in each year.

Impairment losses on financial assets

The provision for contract assets and trade
receivables are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the
customers’ past payment history, the Group’s
historical default rates, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Details
of management’s credit risk assessment are
disclosed in Note 3.1(ii)(c).

4.1 BREFEFRER 7

(ii)

(iii)

BEEW

AEERBAENVEEZEMNRETHRE
BEASNMEFTEHERA BLHRAKIA
RIESFIE-EEEREETER
AHI R R S E T R 8
BEREEEZ ERRRZERANES -
RERBEEREEN BEEERB
HEECHABRESSTETLER.
HENFAHEETEMES -ZFEK
BAFNEERZFRENENELETE -

e

THEEREER
BRNEENBEHERBER 2 BETIRE
FHENAREEAHERXZEBR
E-ARBERFEHZERERNEE
HMEFENEABER REXPB
ENERLE AREZELEDOE
BATHR R & RS BREO AT S
AR A o B IR S B R R AT
Z & B M EEB. 1 (i) (c) R
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4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(iv)

Estimations in goodwill impairment
assessment

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment. For the purposes of
impairment reviews, the recoverable amount
of goodwill is determined based on the higher
of fair value less costs of disposal or value
in use calculations. The recoverable amount
calculations primarily use cash flow forecast
based on financial budgets and forecasts
covering a period of five years approved by
management and estimated terminal value at
the end of the forecast period.

There are a number of assumptions and
estimates involved in the preparation of cash
flow forecast for the period covered by the
approved budgets. Key assumptions include
the growth rates and discount rates to reflect
the risks involved. Management prepares the
financial budgets and forecasts reflecting
actual and prior year performance and market
development expectations. Judgement is
required to determine key assumptions
adopted in the cash flow forecast and changes
to key assumptions could affect these cash
flow forecast and therefore the results of the
impairment reviews.
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Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE
Restacking g2
Reinstatement EIR
Design B

Churn works THETE
Maintenance and others REREM

The Group’s revenue mainly represents revenue from the
provision of interior fit-out solutions for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

Revenue generated from bare shell fit-out, restacking and
reinstatement services were recognised over time while
revenue generated from churn works, design, maintenance
and other services were recognised at a point in time for
the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The executive directors have been identified as the chief
operating decision makers (“CODM”) of the Group who
review the Group’s internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. The Group focuses
on provision of interior fit-out solutions in Hong Kong
and the PRC for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
2022. Information reported to the CODM, for the purpose
of resources allocation and performance assessment,
focuses on the operating results of the Group as a whole
as the directors regard the Group’s business as a single
operating segment and review consolidated financial
statements accordingly. The Group primarily operates
in Hong Kong and the PRC. Revenue generated from
customers in the PRC is also related to the provision of
interior fit-out solutions and the reported geographical
segment information is presented below.

2022
20224
HKD’000
FET

172,096
200,058
6,419
7,326
25,696
1,627

413,122

NEBEH E20234F K2022E3A31 0 IFEE MK
ATELRBEERNERTRRTRAEBHWA -

H E2023F N2022F3A31H IEFERERLFEE
E - BEKERRSmE SO WA THBE R RE
RMBATEERIRE R - REREMKRSME
A R U T AR B S (R B R B T 1 RR o

HITESEHERARAEBENTIELLRERE
([XEREREE]) AEEHAEENANIIR
o UFHERB R DR ER 8 220234 k2022
FIAGIALLFE ALEHZITRERBENRT
REZAREBIAFR - ARESHLAEENE
BRAEE—CENHWHEEENGEETHRE
MR ERPHEERRBETEMS MEELEERRE
EERNERNAERAEENEREELEEE X
EEFZRERRPEALEE -RARPEE
FHWANEEBETAEER LRG0 KE
E2RWBHEERF LT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B RS AR MY RE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. BKARDHER (#)
INFORMAT'ON (Continued)
Geographical information h 32 & K
The geographical location of customers is based on EPOMBUEDNERNERBRENALE -KNEE
the location at which the service provided. The Group’s ZRERANEFBUREERFH - TREH K
operations and workforce are mainly located in Hong Kong SERENBEFLHBADH -

and the PRC. The following table provides an analysis of
the Group’s revenue from external customers.

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Hong Kong BE 503,021 389,377
The PRC H 14,578 23,745
517,599 413,122
Information about major customers FEEFEH
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the REMAEEBRABEION HE P AU A
Group’s total revenue are set out below. G0 o
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Customer A BFPA N/A (Note) 46,107
TER (Ka)
Customer B ®FB 85,680 N/A (Note)
NEA (M)
Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of Bat: MHERATBBRAEERBIAZ10% -

the Group'’s total revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IAﬂ
n‘/T\

R R TR -

OTHER INCOME

Government subsidies B 4 B

The amount represents government grant in respect
of the Employment Support Scheme and the Distance
Business Programme (2022: in respect of the Distance
Business Programme) received from the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching
to the grant. The Group did not benefit directly from any
other forms of government assistance.

EXPENSES BY NATURE

The Group’s profit for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 are stated after charging the following cost of sales
and administrative expenses:

H g A
2023 2022
20235 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FETT
1,714 49

ZREABREESHENTRERFELNRS
XS B FEDE TSl (2022F RN EREEE
#1 &) BT 15 69 BRRT 5 B o ot 1 Bh 3 SR E AR 2 K
G HEMREEBE -AEEYEEESZZIRETM
Hi X BRATIE -

EMHEE DB X
REBH £20234F N202243A31H IEFEH %
FIAEHIBR A TS ERARITERAS % S50 T -

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
F & T FHET
Subcontracting charges DEER 441,841 356,205
Staff costs (Note 9) BIHRA (A:29) 49,091 44,941
Cleaning expenses BE2ER 5,400 3,106
Insurance expenses REEF X 4,174 2,853
Short-term lease payments (Note 14) REMENRK (HiE14) 835 248
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 85 B % B
- Audit service — B R 1,431 1,363
Depreciation on right-of-use FRAEEEZTE
assets (Note 14) (Hiit14) 2,621 3,139
Depreciation on property, plant and M -BELEREZTE
equipment (Note 13) (K1:%13) 1,089 1,298
Legal and professional fees FEERBEEER 3,014 2,663
Other expenses EMAE 3,379 4,901
Total cost of sales and administrative HENRARITHFA Y 28
expenses 512,875 420,717
Representing: Hrh:
Cost of sales 85 & AR 484,167 390,385
Administrative expenses THAEX 28,708 30,332
512,875 420,717
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B RS AR MY RE

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year included four (2022: four) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 30(a). The
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2022:
one) individual during the year are as follows:

8. FINANCE INCOME/(COSTS) - NET 8. MBWA (RAK) —FH
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
F#E T FET
Interest income from bank deposits IRITIE KA B WA 1,094 161
Interest expense on lease HEBBZFBEBRX
liabilities (Note 14) (Hiit14) (103) (199)
991 (38)
STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 9. EIRALX (BEEEMHL)
EMOLUMENTS
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
F# T FET
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e LA K ERL 47,475 43,180
Retirement benefits contributions BRAE AR 1,616 1,761
49,091 44,941
Five highest paid individuals hEREFMAL

FRAEAEEBRNGTHES 258 AL BHE4AR
(2022%F 1 4% ) ES  EHMAEM 5E30(a) B L -
FERE NN T1E (2022F :14) A+ 2 &l a0

T

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

HKD’000 HKD’000

F# T FEIT

Basic salaries and bonuses EA#H e R4 2,153 1,361
Retirement benefits contributions RARAE F AR 18 18
2,171 1,379
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

10.

RE B RRHEE

STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 9. EIRAX (BIFEEEME) (&)

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emoluments fell within the following bands:

B < &5 &
1,000,00178 TE
1,500,000/ JT
1,500,001/ 8 T2
2,000,000 7t
2,000,001 T &
2,500,000 7T

Emolument bands
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000

HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current income tax BVERPR 15 B

- Hong Kong profits tax —BENEH

— Under-provision for prior years —FFEBEETR
Deferred tax (Note 24) RIERIIE (ffit24)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazette on the following day. Pursuant to
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2
million of assessable profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above
HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

TEREFMAL (&)
BEEMENNATEE:

Number of individual

AE

2023 2022
20234 20224

= 1

1 —

10. FTBHA X

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FETT
1,502 275
149 370
(104) (232)
1,547 413

PR2018F3A21A  BHE L A2 EB (2017F
B UER]) (BT BKAER) ([KRHAIER]) -
S/ AR F 15 B 3 ) E o & B B 2= R20184F3
A28HEEXAZERE TRERAAEER-RIE
MBFERREHNE GEREBREENEH2A
BB TTIE R H T 18 1%28.25% 9 B R FL - M i
B2H B T A FE AR BRI BI216.5% Y B R
M- AHEMBAEHRENEERNEE TR
ZIERBORFIG EE N FH16.5% R — T REF -
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Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of Sanbase Interior
Contracting Limited is calculated at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%)
on the first HKD2 million (2022: HKD2 million) of the
estimated assessable profits and at the rate of 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits above
HKD2 million (2022: HKD2 million) for the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on enterprise income tax (“EIT”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% (2022: 25%).

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has been
made as the Group had no assessable profit in other
jurisdictions during the year.

The taxation on the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the tax rates applicable to the respective companies of
the Group as follows:

Wt AFEBHMEER AR CBEBNEH IR
HEtERBEF N E2HEE BT (2022F 1 2H &
BT ) LA8.25% (20224 : 8.25% ) W) B K51 & -
BiB2E BB T (2022F :2E BB L) MIFETE
2 M 216.5% (20224 1 16.5% ) B9 F & 51
:g’:a

RIBEFBRCEMSHR ([DERBHR])EZRDLE
B BEEIES REIME AR ZH XK A25%
(20224 : 25%)

AEBRFEREE MR R I &S E RN
A B L E b AR R RO P IS AR A

AEBEBERAEN, (BB WHE LAKE
ERARAHERREAENERHBAE AR -
B

2022

20224

HKD’000

FET

Profit/(loss) before income tax BB AT, (E18) (6,833)
Tax calculated at Hong Kong statutory BEBNEEHETE

tax rate 7 Hi 18 (1,295)

Different taxation rate in other country H b B R AR F & (202)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes IR 3 -

Income not subject to income tax AR T A IR A (19)

Recognition of other temporary difference BREMENEEZR (136)

Tax loss not recognised RIERB B EBE 1,701

Tax concession BB ER (10)

Under-provision in prior years TERENR 370

Income tax expense FriS i = 413
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RE B RRHEE

11. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
(a) Basic

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by
dividing the profit/(loss) attributable to owners of
the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue less the total number of
shares held under share award scheme during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

1. BRER, (F#E)
(a) EAX
BREABF, (FEB) HIEHEE2023F &
20224 3A31B L FEARARAI BB AEML
HAL (BB B ABRBITEBARE REFE
HERR D EE A E TSRO AsE -

2023 2022
20234 20224
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners KABHB ANEL
of the Company (HKD'000) mA, (EE)
(F&r) 1,040 (5,735)
Weighted average number of ordinary BT E R e
shares in issue less shares held under EHEUR AR 5 2B
share award scheme (in thousand) FPEI TR (FA) 197,944 197,944
Basic earnings/(loss) per ordinary share & B E K
(HK cents) BF, (E8)
(&AMl 0.53 (2.90)
(b) Diluted (b) 88
There were no outstanding share options as at 20234 2022F3A31H » B & K K 1TF

31 March 2023 and 2022 and have no potential
dilutive ordinary share in issue. Accordingly, diluted
earnings per share is equal to basic earnings per
share.

12. DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

ZERERYBECETZEENHREL R
B o B - B E 2 N B e AR R
|EJO

12. R B2
EEe EE0EE2023F K2022F3A31H b
FEIRMN RIS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
i

BB | KM

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Year ended 31 March 2022

Net book amount at 1 April 2021

Additions
Depreciation charge (Note 7)

Net book amount at
31 March 2022

At 31 March 2022
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 31 March 2023

Net book amount at 1 April 2022

Additions
Depreciation charge (Note 7)
Exchange translation difference

Net book amount at
31 March 2023

At 31 March 2023
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

13. ¥ BERRE

Furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment improvements vehicles Total
BRRRE HEHE EH A5t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FETL FET
BZE2022F3A31ALEE
R2021 54 A1 B M R E R A 1,249 434 227 1,910
RE 619 476 - 1,095
WEER (WiH7) (686) (494) (118) (1,298)
72202253 A31H #)
EHETE 1,182 416 109 1,707
H2022%3H31H
BN 3,622 2,581 475 6,678
25t E (2,440) (2,165) (366) (4,971)
FE#E 1,182 416 109 1,707
B Z2023F3A31HILEE
R2022F4 F1 B REFE 1,182 416 109 1,707
NE 57 116 — 173
WEER (WiH7) (688) (292) (109) (1,089)
ERREZR (1) = = (1)
720235331 #)
REHE 550 240 - 790
W2023F3A31H
A 3,667 2,697 475 6,839
2EtiTE (3,117) (2,457) (475) (6,049)
RmFE 550 240 = 790

Depreciation expenses of approximately HKD1,089,000

(2022: HKD1,298,000)

have been charged to

“administrative expenses” for the year ended 31 March

2023.
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This note provides information for leases where the Group AWFRHEEREE AEBAANHEENER -
is a lessee.

() Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REEMBERRRBEIANSE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of finance position GCARBERARBRIATEHESEEBAN S
shows the following amounts relating to leases: B
2022
20224
HKD’000
FET
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Office premises MAEYE 2,854
Warehouse BE 61
Office equipment N 401
3,316
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current B EFEf 9 2,659
Non-current JERD R 909
3,568
Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year HZE2023F3A3HILFEARENFRAESE
ended 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately E #) /1,274,000 7T (20224 : 1,818,000
HKD1,274,000 (2022: HKD1,818,000). L) o

+
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(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) REZEEERERNSHE
statement of profit or loss
The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows REERRBERUNTHEEEHEN S
the following amounts relating to leases:

2022
20224
Note HKD’000
=3 FET
Depreciation charge of FRAEEEZHEEA
right-of-use assets
Office premises (INES Y ES (2,919)
Warehouse BE (92)
Office equipment NS (132)
7 (3,139)
Interest expense FERT (BREMBEKAA)
(included in finance cost) 8 (199)
Expense relating to short-term EHEE s HAX
leases (included in administrative (BRETEHAZA)
expenses) 7 (248)
The total cash outflow for leases for the year H ZEZ202343A3THILFEMNHEER &
ended 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately T B EE 4] B3,724,00078 T (20224 ¢
HKD3,724,000 (2022: HKD3,567,000). 3,567,000/ 7T) °
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(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how

(iv)

these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouse and
equipment. Lease contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of one to five years, but some may
have extension options as described in (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions.

There were no variable lease payments for the
leases entered into by the Group for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounted
to approximately HKD571,000 and approximately
HKD581,000 (Note 31(b)) respectively were
derecognised as a result of termination of leases
during the year ended 31 March 2022 resulting in the
recognition of a gain on termination of approximately
HKD10,000 (Note 31(a)) in the profit or loss. None
was recognised during the year ended 31 March
2023.

Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property and warehouse leases across
the Group. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The Group recognises right-of-
use assets with extension and termination options
that are exercisable only by the Group and not by
the respective lessor only if the Group is highly likely
to exercise the options.

(i) AEBEHNBAEFTBREIIRS *

(iv)

AEEHEZEARAE REEARE-HE
BRBERIESFNEEHR D%
BT X (iv) Pt ey HY & 242 o

i

HEGARDEBHBEER EPEEF
R RO 1R TR R AR A

#H £2023F K2022FE3A31H IFFE A E
B EREAENRINAEE -

HE2022F3A31BEFEAN AHEEXRIE
MEEERNEAEEEMEHEAENE
B85 Bl 40 A571,000/%8 7T K& 4 £581,000/%8
JC (M5E81(0)) s FTEAMKIEAERZED
/10,0007 7T (M 5E31(a)) * W B A 1B 5 18
R E E2023F3A31THILFERN  HER

5
=7
o ©

R IERERE
AEENETMERREHERSEMK
REEEE-FELAREEESEEZT
ERMNEE T HRERTKLLET L -#
EAEEBARREITEHER  AKEA
RABTCHME EERNEREEE
ELRERREHAKREMIFESTENHHA
ATTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B RS AR MY RE

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE

Customer Money
relationship lenders
Goodwill and contracts licence Total
EFHEER
HE =¥ BEAER At
HKD000 HKD000 HKD’000 HKD000
FET FET FETL FET
Year ended 31 March 2022 BZE2022F3A31ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April 2021 R2021F4 18 R
and 31 March 2022 2022F3 A31HMRE FE 9,544 - 2,421 11,965
At 31 March 2022 RW20223H31H
Cost XA 9,544 2,870 2,421 14,835
Accumulated amortisation 2t EH - (2,870) - (2,870)
Net book amount EEFE 9,544 - 2,421 11,965
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ2023%3R31ALLEE
Net book amount at 1 April 2022 R2022F4 1AM EREFE 9,544 - 2,421 11,965
Impairment losses REEE - - (2,421) (2,421)
Net book amount at 31 March 2023  72023%F3 831 HHERE FE 9,544 = = 9,544
At 31 March 2023 #2023F3A31H
Cost AR 9,544 2,870 2,421 14,835
Impairment losses BEBE - - (2,421) (2,421)
Accumulated amortisation BETH - (2,870) - (2,870)
Net book amount REFE 9,544 - - 9,544
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Notes:

(i)

(i)

Impairment assessment for goodwill

The Group’s goodwill of approximately HKD6,470,000
(2022: HKD®6,470,000) and approximately HKD3,074,000
(2022: HKD3,074,000) were arisen from the acquisitions
of Core Group Holding Limited (“Core Group”) and Siwu
Architectural (Guangzhou) Limited (“GZ Siwu”) in the prior
years. The directors consider Core Group and GZ Siwu as
two separate cash generating units (“CGUs”) and allocates
goodwill resulting from the said acquisitions accordingly.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use
(*VIU”) calculation. The calculation uses pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by the
directors covering a five-year period. Key assumptions
used in the calculation includes pre-tax discount rates
ranging from 19% to 22% (2022: 19% to 22%), revenue
growth rates ranging from 8.0% to 8.5% (2022: 3% to
5%) and gross profit margin excluding staff costs ranging
from 17% to 35% (2022: 15% to 22%) for the five-year
forecast period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 3% (2022:
3%).

Management determined the revenue growth rate and
the gross profit margin based on past performance of the
CGUs and their expectations for the market development.
The discount rates applied by the Group are rates that
reflect current market assessment of the time value of
money and risk specific to each CGU.

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable
amounts of the CGU in which goodwill has been allocated
are higher than their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2023
and 2022. As a result, no impairment loss was charged
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Since the carrying amounts of the Group’s CGUs are not
sensitive to the changes in assumption, no sensitivity
analysis is disclosed.

Impairment assessment for money lenders licence

The Group’s money lenders licence amounted to
HKD2,421,000 is recorded as an intangible asset with an
indefinite useful life.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount
of the money lenders licence is higher than the recoverable
amount which results in impairment.

U]

(i)

BB ZRER

KEBZEEHG6,470,0008 T (20224F ¢
6,470,000 7T ) I #93,074,000/% 7T (20224 :
3,074,000 L) DRI EE B AEFE A UE
Core Group Holding Limited ([Core Group |)
FEMBTAEERFTBRAR ([EMNHFE]) -
EF 14 Core Group R EIMNET AR &M EEBH
BeELBEU([REELEEM )WL SEA
B EE EE-

EEEBESFRIRSELENFEEEZES N
AUECBEUBELRERE - BeEEBEMDN
A cEzEREE((EREBEET -
MRS RBANGENLARKESHENRE
AFHENMBRBEEMET TEMRANER
BREEERLFFBBEN F19% £222% (20224 :
19% £22% ) M B AT BL 30 & - Y T8.0% £8.5%
U A8 R R (20224 3% £5% ) N F17%
ZE35% M) FEF| R (20224F : 15% £22% ) - AT
FHZESRENEKAI% (20224 : 3% ) M {H
PR REHE-

EREBRRCELABU RBARBERTSERE
EHEERAEREREMNE -AEHERZH
BEDRBBHHSEEREEELZRE
=4 B AL E EL R A AT A o

ERE T 14 18 B3R - 720234 B 202243 A 31
A HECHEMEREEFSEMNHAKE S5
=R E IR E - A it & 220234 %2022 3 A31
AIEFETEGERE-

HRASERSELAEN  REBEL TS H R

HEABRRZBENE

REE 2 ME AR &2,421,00078 JT # 50 #%
REREREFHNETLEE-

ERETFRIMNBEAMBOREERS RN
P U [E] & BB A BREE A RUME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S AN
=

B 75 ¥R 3= MY RE

15. |NTANG|BLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment assessment for money lenders licence
(Continued)

The Group has not commenced the money lender business
after the acquisition of the money lenders licence. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group decided not
to initiate the money lender business. Accordingly, the
recoverable amount of the money lenders licence is
determined based on the fair value less costs of sales.

To best of the knowledge of the directors, the fair value
less costs of sales of the money lenders licence, based on
the market approach, is lower than its carrying amount as
at 31 March 2023. Based on the management assessment,
impairment loss of intangible assets of HKD2,421,000 was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
nil).

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group classifies the debt investments that do not
qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI,
at FVPL. Financial assets measured at FVPL include the

15. B EE (&)
Kiat: (%)

(i) HMEARRBZBETME(E)

PURBE B AR RR TS - AEE W ER R REES -
PR2023F3ANAFEHER AEBRETHAR
REAER Bt REARRBR UK E S 5ER
HEABEAEQATFERLEXNAMEPINER
EET-

BEEMMN BMBEABTNREABRRH AT
B R85 & A AR A 7202343 A31 A WERE A
(20224 : fm) - BB BB BT - & £202343
A1BLEERAZEREEREBEREA
2,421,000/ 7T (20224F : #&) ©

16. RAAREEEES BT AERD
EMEE
AEEBTHARBEKALEARGHER
HEEBHH AR MEERSEARBHEDALS
B ABRNBEERELTIE - ROAEHE

following: BEZHF AERNEeREERRUTSIE:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET

Non-current assets IRBEE

Unlisted debt investments FLEMEBIRE 14,687 14,647
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’'000
F & T FET
At 1 April R4A18 14,647 13,200
Fair value changes DAEES 2 1,353
Exchange translation difference fEHIRE Z5 38 94
At 31 March M3A31A 14,687 14,647
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

16.

RE B RRHEE

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s unlisted debt
investment represented debt instrument in an unlisted fund
with limited liability incorporated in Cayman Islands which
holds an underlying residential project (the “Project”)
located in Cambodia (the “Cambodia Fund”).

The Project accounted for substantially all of the
Cambodia Fund’s net assets and was carried at fair value
as at 31 March 2023 and 2022, accordingly, in the opinion
of the directors, the net asset value of the Cambodia Fund
approximated its fair value.

The Group’s investment in the Cambodia Fund was
measured at fair value with reference to the net asset
value of the Cambodia Fund provided by its administrators
and discounted cash flow of the Project. Key assumptions
used in the valuation of the Project of the Cambodia Fund
are as follows:

Adopted unit rate AN ENGER

Adopted unit rent HAMNEBELES

Adopted agency fees and HKENREZMNES
commission

Pre-tax discount rate TiATRA IR &

Selling price growth rate BFEHEBKRERE:
per annum:

For the 1st year F—4F

For the 2nd year FF

For the 3rd year F=F

For the 4th year FEIF

The Cambodia Fund was denominated in US$.

16. D R

US$3,500/square meter

US$26/square meter

FTEEHSEFABEN
TREE &)

M2023F3A31H " AEBMIELTEBKRER
FRAEHEFMRIMNELTERETRA
BAEURSRHENHEBEEEE ([BEB])WNE
BIE(IREFEL]) -

ZHEBERBREESNHARB O FEE  Wi%2023
FR2022F3A3MAMAREBEIE Hit &
ERR RERESWNEEFEERAQNAEBER
ﬁo

AEERRBEEESHRENAABHETER
SEHEBARKNEEFELRHEBNREAR
TR ARFERBERESHANIERRAT

2023
2023%F

2022
20224

US$3,500/square meter
3,500% T,/ F B K 38,5003 7T,/ F 77 K
US$30/square meter
26X T,/ ¥ 5K 30% L/ FH K

8% and 13% 8% and 14%

8% F13% 8% M14%
10% 10%
2.5% 2%
4.0% 2%
5.0% 2%
6.0% 2%

RBFEEGUAETAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B ERRNEE

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 16. RAAREFEBHEHTT ABEEW

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) TREE (&)

Management considers that the change in the selling price ERERR BENHEERERXELEALAE
growth rate of the Project is the most sensitive factor to EHRERESREQNNBEZHENAZR -5
the fair value of the Group’s investments in the Cambodia HEEMIHEEERERRE N, HAI10% MTE
Fund. If the selling price growth rate of the Project had E B ERFTE BB E2028F3A31H * &
increased/decreased by 10% with all other variables held CEERBEESCHRENALBEBEEMN R
constant, the fair value of the Group’s investments in the b #74,661,000% 7T °

Cambodia Fund would have been increased/decreased by
approximately HKD4,661,000 as at 31 March 2023.

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

17. ZEREIPNERMT A

CATEGORY
The Group holds the following financial instruments: REBEBFBUTERMIA:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD 000
FHET F&ET
Assets as per consolidated statement BEUMBRRERREE
of financial position
Financial assets at amortised cost HHEENKATENERHEE
- Trade and retention receivables (Note 18) —-BZ RIRES WK (H:F18) 88,250 44,673
- Deposits and other receivables (Note 20) — % e REHmEWGK (Hi220) 2,084 2,208
— Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) -RekBSEFEY (Fite1) 109,702 119,776
200,036 166,657
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 16) RARBEFEBEZHTA
BamemEE (Mii16) 14,687 14,647
Total &5t 214,723 181,304
Liabilities as per consolidated statement HGAMBERREXFFIREE
of financial position
Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs: Z#Ek At EN S R EE
- Trade payables (Note 23) —BIRENRK(HiF23) 181,830 124,151
- Accruals and other payables (Note 3.1(ii) — — et Ko £ b J& A 3% (#7523, 1(iii) ) 2,941 1,735
- Lease liabilities (Note 14) - HEBE(Wit14) 2,024 3,568
Total &5t 186,795 129,454
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE B RRHEE

18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 18. EZ NRE £ E W

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note HKD’000 HKD’'000
iokz3 FET FET
Trade receivables =Y e (a) 86,765 48,136
Retention receivables RE < &Y R (c) 3,331 1,479
90,096 49,615
Less: provision for impairment of trade Jil : B 5 &R E & B U
and retention receivables BB R
(Note 3.1(ij)(c)) (H17#3.1(i)(c)) (1,846) (4,942)
Trade and retention receivables — net & 5 NIRE & EU K — F58 88,250 44,673
Trade and retention receivables balances are categorised B RRES BB HBERSE A IR HKR
as “financial assets measured at amortised cost”. The FFTEMEREE] - 2023F K20224F3HA318
maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2023 and TR ERERZNESEERRAEEREE K
2022 was the carrying value of each class of receivables SETESEEMUERRIEAER -B5 RRE
mentioned above. The Group did not hold any collateral CERRFCEEENRAAABEBERE - BSHRR
as security. The carrying amounts of trade and retention BSRERBRAEEUNETLRARESE-
receivables approximate their fair values. The trade and
retention receivables were mainly denominated in HKD
and RMB.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, impaired trade ELE20235F3A3IHILFEA B HNE HE
receivables of HKD3,582,000 were written off (Note 3.1(ii)(c)). W ORI 1B /53,582,000 7T (BT 7E3.1(i)(c) ) °

sizsmanE 2023%EEHRs 171



(a)

(b)

The credit terms granted to its customers were
generally 30 days from the invoice date except for
the amount relating to retention money which is
payable after 1 year from the date of completion
of the works. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the
invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 308 A

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61£290H
91 to 180 days 912180H
Over 180 days 180H M £

Impairment assessment on financial
assets subject to expected credit loss
model

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9.
The basis of determining the inputs and assumptions
and the estimation techniques in this consolidated
financial statements for the years ended 31 March
20283 and 2022 are set out in Note 3.1(ii)(c). Details
of impairment assessment on financial assets subject
to expected credit loss model are set out in Note

3.1(ii)(c).

During the year, the Group provided approximately
HKD486,000 and approximately HKD62,000 (2022:
approximately HKD369,000 and approximately
HKD2383,000) impairment allowance to trade
and retention receivables and contract assets
respectively.

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

(a)

(b)

AEBEERETERFNEES RAERE
AH#£30R - T8FE IR EKBHE1F
2 JEARHR B & 708 - 1220234 202243 A
1A EREHZAH2INEZRKRRZE
BT

2022
20224
HKD’000
FiET

15,278
1,890
7,729

19,383
3,856

48,136

REANFESERENHSREEE
ITEERERG

AEBRBBLAEZREETSVBEREE
RIZEOSR AT R E M TEHAE BB 18 - B £2023
FN2022F3A31H IE FE G A B %R
RTWETHE ASEARRE MG HZE
B EL A BT EE3.1(i)(c) ~ TR BRI E B 1B 18
NTH S mE ERETSZF 15
5£3.1(ii)(c) °

FARAEBEHEFERECERZKLE
H & ERE B 9 Bl £9486,000% 7T K& &Y
62,000/% 7T (20224 : £9369,0007% 7T & £
233,000/ 7T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R R AR MY EE

18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 18. ES RARESEWRK (&)
(Continued)
(c) As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis
of the retention receivables based on the invoice
date was as follows:

(c) 1720234 K2022F3A31H IHHEHHE
PIMRE S EU K Z BRI T -

(d)

2023 2022

20234 20224

HKD’000 HKD’000

FE T FAETT

Within 30 days 30H A = -
31 to 60 days 31260H 621 123
61 to 90 days 61290H 518 -
91 to 180 days 912 180H - -
Over 180 days 180H M £ 2,192 1,356
3,331 1,479

Movement on the Group’s provision for impairment of
trade and retention receivables are detailed in Note

3.1(ii)(c).

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying
amounts of gross trade and retention receivables
approximate their fair value and were denominated in
the following currencies.

AEBE L E 5 AR B £ 8 UK E H R B B

18 O 52 B 5 BB RES.1 (i) (c) ©

(d) #H Z=2023%F K2022%F3H318 B 5 KIRE
CREBFREAERAEREATEES I

AT EREEHE -

2023 2022

20234 20224

HKD’000 HKD’000

FE T FET

HKD BT 88,624 48,206
RMB AR 1,472 1,409
90,096 49,615
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Contract assets (Note (i)
Less: provision for impairment loss

Contract liabilities (Note (i)

(Note 3.1(ii)(c))

Notes:

(U]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, contract assets related to
construction services consist of unbilled amount resulting
from construction when the cost-to-cost method of revenue
recognised exceeds the amount billed to the customer.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, contract liabilities
recognised represented the progress billings received in
excess of construction works performed and the advance
payment made by customers.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year amounted to
approximately HKD15,002,000 (2022: HKD6,246,000).
There was no revenue recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous years during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2023

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
service contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied
as at 31 March 2023 amounted to approximately
HKD183,434,000 (2022: HKD175,222,000).

174 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2023

19. 5 n’JﬁF&E{E

BHEE (MiE0)
B RE R R (B3 1(i)(c))

BHAa®E (HE))

Hrat

(U]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
106,145 84,188
(669) (607)
105,476 83,581
(1,716) (15,002)
7‘5@2023@ K2022F3A31H MFEERBEBEN

EHEER S RBERUKRAZEMERNEA
tﬂﬁgﬁ%@lﬁ’]i%ﬂﬁ?iﬂ’]?ﬁﬁ-ﬁﬂﬁémé%ﬁ o

MR2023%F N2022F3A31H EERNAENEE
DEEWEEERZBRE TN BETIRERE
=R

HBENBEEANDERRA

ANFEPIF AN EBERENCERKADN A
15,002,000/% 7T (20224 : 6,246,000 7T ) ° K
H 220234 202263 A31HIEFEN HER
BEFECBTBHNESMBEREA -

R2023F3A31HREITE

R2023F3A31B DEEREANHF ML L
RAEBETHWXZ S5 ERBEEL H183,434,000% 7T
(20224 : 175,222,000 7T ) °
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e B R R AR MY EE

20. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

Deposits b A

Other receivables E b B UK
Financial assets (Note 17) CREE (MiF17)
Prepayments TER

Less: non-current portion of deposits and B RE RTEA
prepayments FE BN ER B

Current portion BN EA &6 75

Except for prepayment of HKD774,000 (2022:
HKD1,288,000), deposits and other receivables are
financial assets categorised as those to be measured at
amortised costs. The fair values of the Group’s deposits,
other receivables and prepayments approximate their
carrying amounts.

The deposits, other receivables and prepayments were
denominated in the following currencies:

HKD BT
RMB AR
Total &&t

20. & Htb B KR AN

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
F & T FET
1,656 1,774
428 434
2,084 2,208
774 1,288
2,858 3,496
(404) (338)
2,454 3,158

Br T8 1 ZUIE774,000/% 7T (20224 : 1,288,000/%
TN me REMEWRFRE S EAKREEX K
FFENERMEE-AEBE  EKE HMERIRR
ERZWAARBENEEREEES

Be HA YR R FENRVIEIA T EREEHE

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET
2,653 3,170
205 326
2,858 3,496
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AR e B RS AR MY RE

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. RERREEEY
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
F# T FET
Cash at bank and on hand RITESRLFHERS
— Cash at bank —IRITEH 109,594 119,618
— Cash on hand —FHEIRE 108 158
109,702 119,776
Maximum exposure to credit risk mEfEERRB 109,594 119,618
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following ReMRITERZATEEEE:
currencies:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
F# T FET
HKD BT 99,286 109,819
RMB AR EE 7,878 7,238
Others E A 2,538 2,719
Total &5t 109,702 119,776
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(a)

(b)

Share capital

&S

(in thousand) HKD’000
(FAR) FET
Authorised shares capital: JETE AN
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, R2021%F4H1H «202243H318 +
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 2022F4 818 Kk2023F3A31H 5,000,000 39,000
Issued and fully paid: BT R
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, R20219F481H ~202243H31H8 -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 2022F4 418 K2023F3A31H 200,000 1,553

Share award scheme

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the
adoption of a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) with the objective to provide
eligible persons with additional incentive to
encourage and retain them to work with the
company. Core Trust Company Limited (the
“Trustee”) was designated to be the trustee under
the deed of trust executed on 19 November 2018.

Pursuant to the rules relating to the Share Award
Scheme (“Scheme Rules”), shares are comprised of
the Trustee out of cash arranged to be paid by the
Company out of the Company’s funds to the Trustee
and be held on trust for the relevant eligible grantees
until such shares are vested with the relevant eligible
grantees in accordance with the Scheme Rules
(“Restricted Shares”). The Board implements the
Share Award Scheme in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme Rules including providing necessary
funds to the Trustee to purchase or subscribe for
shares up to 8% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

(b) B 7 8% B =t &

R2018F10816H EEF 22 AFEMAR
MEEEE ([ROEEGE]) SEmT
AEBATIMFEFIREEIIEE - AL
BREEFEERNARTIE-EFETEEAR
~al ([ZFEA]D)IBE2018F11 190 %,
FEARBERIETATEAC

IR (0 2B AT IR0 R AN (TRFEIR A -
BRBEARBLFEEES T BFIAR
TXNEEABENRD REERNER
BTEHAEBRARARNBRETERINEG
ERAEBRARANGEERAENZEIRD
(IZREBRE]) -EFSRIE SR A
FERETROEBHSE BRAXEAR
HARES UBEARBHRZEARA
TREBETRA8% 2B -

+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B ERRNEE

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD 22. RARKMDEBE T FFERD (4

UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)

(b) Share award scheme (Continued) (b) BPEBETE (&)
Pursuant to the Scheme Rules, the Board may, from *Eﬂf?r HAEA EESUITRKIZELEE
time to time, at their absolute discretion select the EREFERABEAL2HERDEBHTEN
eligible grantees after taking into account various TRBREHRESGEREARA TEETHE
factors as they deem appropriate for participation HeBR0OEBE EF2 BRI TANKE
in the Share Award Scheme as a grantee and AZBH N RAFRICERAZTEAZTE
determines the number of shares to be awarded. The AEBERIEEER -

Board shall cause to pay the Trustee the purchase
price and the related expenses from the Company’s
resources for the shares to be purchased by the

Trustee.

The Trustee shall hold such Shares on trust for the RAABUGEIARGEBRARARTE
eligible grantees until they are vested. When the ARG BEE2REESE SHBESER
relevant eligible grantee has satisfied all vesting FREANENESERNELRBRAEE 2
conditions specified by the Board at the time of —UEBEG BERESREIMRMD X
making the award and become entitled to the FRAREBZEZEBERG TAKA-C

Restricted Shares, the Trustee shall transfer the
relevant shares to that grantee.

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, RE 220234 K2022F3A31H IFFE - #
no shares have been awarded to employees. ERRERERMD -
2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224 20234 20224
Shares Shares HKD’000 HKD'000
Viaa R 15 F#ET FAET
Shares held under share -t RELRD
award schemes Fr & 1p 2,056,000 2,056,000 2,998 2,998
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e B R R AR MY EE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. ESRHMEMNRK
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FET

Trade payables &Y ENE-N 181,830 124,151
Accruals and other payables FE AT B E A FE A 3R 3,361 2,172

185,191 126,323
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the aging analysis of the 20234 K2022F3A31H 1L HEEHEH 25 M
trade payables based on invoice date was as follows: BERENRZERDITLT

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET

Within 30 days 30 A 154,206 104,833
31 to 60 days 31£60H 7,219 2,305
61 to 90 days 61290H 3,434 7,548
91 to 180 days 91£180H 6,812 3,417
Over 180 days 180H M E 10,159 6,048

181,830 124,151
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the carrying amounts of 20234 K%2022F 38318 & 5 K H M 5K
trade and other payables approximate their fair values and MEEEDEEAARBREWIRATE®EE:

were denominated in the following currencies.

2023 2022
20234 20224

HKD’000 HKD’000

F#ET FAETT

HKD BT 179,054 121,702
RMB AR 6,137 4,621
185,191 126,323
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ARe B R AR B AL

24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 24. FEIEFTBH

BEEMBERIOIRAEBEEANEREEZRRUBE
ARRENRERACHMALERRM 2 HEAE -

Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using the tax rate
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

EREFEREERAGRAATENYHBEEER
MR ARBEE R AN EEREELTHRE
MR — B R ARRE R IE R T - TR B AR -

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred

income taxes related to the same fiscal authority.

2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Deferred tax assets BRI E E 1,233 1,189
The net movements in the deferred income tax account EIEFTSHRIBE 2 FEEWNT
are as follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000
F & T F&ET
At 1 April R4A18 1,189 926
Credited to profit or loss FARE RN
for the year (Note 10) (#tat10) 104 232
Exchange translation difference fEHmE =58 (60) 31
At 31 March M3A31H 1,233 1,189
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DEFERRED |NCOME TAX (Continued)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and
liabilities (prior to offsetting of balance within the same tax
jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

24, ELEFFBH (&)

BEMEHEENREE (KHEFA—REAER ZH
AESRARFERZEHMT

Deferred income tax assets: RIEFTSIHEE
Accelerated tax
depreciation and
amortisation Provisions Tax losses Total
MEREREREH B WE &t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
20235 2022F 2023% 20228 20235 20228 20235 2022
HKD’000 HKD 000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD’000 HKD 000
FET FET FET FAT FET FET FE7T FAT
At 1 April M4A1A 24 - 345 213 820 789 1,189 1,002
Credited to profit or loss FRRBRENR
for the year (Note 10) (Hi#10) 64 24 157 132 (117) - 104 156
Exchange translation difference ~ EHBEEHE - - - - (60) 31 (60) 31
At 31 March M3A31E 88 24 502 345 643 820 1,233 1,189

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is
probable.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not recognise deferred
income tax assets of approximately HKD6,125,000 (2022:
HKD5,492,000) in respect of losses HKD35,930,000 (2022:
HKD31,767,000) that can be carried forward indefinitely.
Total unrecognised tax losses of HKD33,615,000 (2022:
HKD28,982,000) can be carried forward indefinitely; while
cumulative tax losses of HKD2,315,000 (2022: 2,785,000)
will expire in 2027.

Deferred income tax liabilities:

A A RE BB AR RERT G N BRAARAES
AL AT R E R ZERRBEEMSREE -

MR2023%F3A31H AEBEIT AR T ERBLEE
) 5 835,930,000/ 7T (20224 : 31,767,000
BL)ERBEEMS N E E6,125,000%8 T
(20224 : 5,492,000 L) - KRR EE B
# 733,615,000/ 7T (20224 : 28,982,000/
TOAEBAAE MAEFHIEBIE2,315,000
BT (20224 :2,785,000) # MR 20274F @ i o

EEFERARS:

Accelerated tax depreciation

and amortisation Total
DN B IE A B K R 8N &%
2023 2022 2023 2022
20234 20224 20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD 000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 April ®4A1H = (76) - (76)
Charged to profit or FARBREIZ
loss for the year (Note 10) (H1&E10) - 76 - 76
At 31 March M3HA31H - - - -
gosEam 2023FEHs 181



Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate of 5%
is applied to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty
rate is not automatically granted. The taxpayer needs to
apply to the relevant tax bureau for an approval for the
treaty rate. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by the subsidiary
established in the PRC. As at 31 March 2023, deferred
income tax liabilities of approximately HKD209,000 (2022:
HKD191,000) has not been recognised for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the remittance of earnings
of the PRC subsidiary. The related unremitted earnings
amounted to approximately HKD2,088,000 as at 31 March
2023 (2022: HKD1,911,000), and the Group does not
intend to remit these unremitted earnings from the relevant
subsidiary to the Company in the foreseeable future.

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to
control, jointly control or exert significant influence over the
other party in holding power over the investee; exposure,
or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee; and the ability to use its power over the investee
to affect the amount of the investor’'s returns. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control or joint control. Related parties may be
individuals or other entities.

The following is a summary of the significant transactions
carried out between the Group and its related parties in
the ordinary course of business during the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022.

Compensation of key management

Key management includes executives of the Group. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for
employee services is shown below:

Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Retirement benefits contributions

SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED ~ ANNUAL REPORT 2023

e A ROERR
RARAE R

BERRECEMETE RPBRKZINE B
MINEIEE B TR IR E B MR10% A0 -
RPEREBERFINEEHE BHPECERE
BRELESIRBRE AT ZEREEMNH E5%
B - BZ5% M EME W IEEBES B ATE
MEBTERPRBMEZTERBEH T Bt
AEEBERRPBERINWNBRRA D RKNEKE
BUMTEINTL - 20233 A31H  AEBIL AR
FEMNBEARELZMNAEAINNEMNHEERLD
209,000/ 7T (20224 : 191,000/ JT ) 9 iE & AT
B AE- R2023F3A31H tHEBAREHZEF
%) /2,088,000 7T (20224 : 1,911,000/ 7T )
REBTHATRERREZERAEBHB R
AW ARELABFIEHEZARQA -

B iE AR R BARHERKRET B
BENS - HHABEELEBEATENNAL:
BAESZAEBHSERRE TSN ZM
B ERABEMOAL: RAMBEHERERES
MENFEREEDRSENAL. ZHERE
KHEEFOALTIRESEREE. BES AR
EASHEMERE-

T 3O it A £ [ B CE BE B 5 Bl 2202834 2022
FIAMHILGFEEHRERARTETNEKR

%5

TEEBEASEHM
TRERABBRAKEITRAR SEBRE
ENHENETEERABNFHMU TR

2022
20224
HKD’000
FHET

9,862
187

10,049



The Group had the following contingent liabilities not
provided:

Surety bonds B 49 1R 7&
As at 31 March 2023, the Group provided guarantees
of surety bonds in respect of 5 (831 March 2022: 3)
construction contracts of the Group in its ordinary
course of business. The surety bonds are expected to be
released in accordance with the terms of the respective
construction contracts.

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the Share
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is
subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to attract, retain and motivate employees, directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of
compensating them through the grant of options for their
contribution to the growth and profits of the Group, and
to allow such employees, directors and other persons to
participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme
include directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) and employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any other person who in the absolute
discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute
to the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 20,000,000 shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

AEBEREHBEBNHLERENT:

2022
20224
HKD’000
FET

4,033

R2023F3A31H AL BEMRAEBEHETED
B2 B951D (20223 A31H 31D ) BEA KR
HEHRBFER ZERBRORFEABRESE
HE LB IGEFRERRR o

R2017512A8H » A X A Bk 44 19 B A4 5 814
BGEM EMRAIZE23FEB TR EWEE LA
BTRZERT BRESSERS BB RH
BEE EFkHEMSEE WHEBROBERE
M mEEAEBEROEMIEH TR A KE
ZE5REE BEERHMALISOZAEENERR

BA -

BREGINAERZEZERRAQARRAL
AMBARMNER(BEATES FATES
RBYFFATES) REE (TwEBERE) X
EXexRBBERYAKEECFHAKFEL
BRWEMEMAL

BEBREFEBTFREEOMBEREESTE
i 7] 3% 17 B9 A% 19 42 8 520,000,0000% » 16 7 2N 4
RAHAQRR 2 HEHITRALI0% -

+
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share
Option Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a
consideration of HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the
options granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

The exercise price of share options under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
th